

LUND UNIVERSITY

From the pancreatic beta cell to the endothelium: Pathophysiological aspects of Type 2 **Diabetes**

Dekker Nitert, Marloes

2007

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Dekker Nitert, M. (2007). From the pancreatic beta cell to the endothelium:Pathophysiological aspects of Type 2 Diabetes. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Experimental Medical Science]. Faculty of Medicine, Lund University.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00 Från Institutionen för Experimentell Medicinsk Vetenskap Avdelningen för Diabetes, Metabolism och Endokrinologi



LUND UNIVERSITY

From the pancreatic β-cell to the endothelium: *Pathophysiological aspects of Type 2 Diabetes*

Marloes Dekker Nitert

Akademisk avhandling som med vederbörligt tillstånd av Medicinska fakulteten vid Lunds universitet för avläggande av doktorsexamen i medicinsk vetenskap kommer att offentligen försvaras i Segerfalksalen, Wallenberg Neurocentrum, Sölvegatan 17, Lund, fredagen den 30 november 2007, kl 0900

> Fakultetsopponent Professor Guy A Rutter Department of Cell Biology Imperial College London London, United Kingdom

Organization LUND UNIVERSITY	Document name DOCTORAL DISSERTATIO)N
	Date of issue 071130	
	Sponsoring organization	
Author(s) Marloes Dekker Nitert		
Title and subtitle		
From the pancreatic β -cell to the endothelium: Pa	athophysiological aspects of Ty	pe 2 Diabetes
Abstract The global increase in incidence of Diabetes Mellitus h the most prevalent form of diabetes, comprising 90% of processes con-tribute to the development of the disease and insulin resistance in the target organs. This leads to all forms of diabetes. Al-though blood glucose levels of pharmacological interventions, complications often aris- retinopathy, neuropathy, and nephropathy. In this thesi Type 2 Diabetes were studied. The aims were (i) to ide to glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in the rat clonal mechanism of β-cell adaptation in the C57BL/6J mous- glucose tolerance is a feature in the RIP2-Cre mouse m knockout of genes; and (iv) to study the presence of ins- cells of different origin. It was established that CaV1.2 glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in INS-1 832/13 of β-cells. C57BL/6J mice on a high-fat diet become insu could be attributed to compensatory hypersecretion of metabolic fuels from glucose to fatty acids and amino a observed in the β-cells of the insulin-resistant C57BL// RIP2-Cre mice onto a pure genetic background. The ex- tolerance, insulin secretion or β-cell mass in this pure g used in β-cell specific knockout studies, where there is cells from coronary artery and umbilical vein expressed Indications of the presence of insulin/IGF-I hybrid recer results reflect the importance of IGF-I in the developm Thus, our work has examined aspects of the pathogenic and action of insulin, highlighting the complexity of Ty- Key words: β-cells, insulin secretion, glucose toleram Type 2 Diabetes	tas assumed epidemic proportion of the patients. In Type 2 Diabe is insufficient insulin secretion of loss of control of blood gluco an be controlled by a variety of se. These complications includ s, different aspects of pathophy ntify the voltage-gated calcium β -cell line INS-1 832/13; (ii) t e model of insulin resistance; (lodel, which is commonly used sulin receptors and IGF-I recep is the main voltage-gated calci ells, con-firming previous resul- lin resistant but do not develop insulin, which may be due to a cids. This is reflected by incre- 5J mice. C57BL/6J mice were a spression of Cre recombinase d genetic background. Therefore, a focus on glucose homeostasi d more IGF-I receptors than ins- eptors were found in both endo ent of vascular complications of the metamisms involved in pertu- ype 2 Diabetes.	ons. Type 2 Diabetes is tes, two fundamental from the pancreatic β -cell se levels, the hallmark of f life-style and e cardiovascular disease, visiological mechanisms in a channel that is coupled o investigate the iii) to determine whether for β -cell specific tors in human endothelial ium channel coupled to lts obtained from mouse o diabetes. The adaptation shift in utilization of ased mitochondrial mass also used for backcrossing tid not affect glucose this mouse line can be is. Human endothelial sulin receptors. thelial cell types. These of Diabetes Mellitus. urbations of both secretion
Classification system and/or index termes (if any):		
Supplementary bibliographical information:		Language
		English
ISSN and key title:		ISBN

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

10

Number of pages

Security classification

120

071014

978-91-85897-30-8

Price

Date

10 oal NA

1652-8220

Distribution by (name and address)

Recipient's notes

Signature

From the pancreatic β-cell to the endothelium: *Pathophysiological aspects of Type 2 Diabetes*

Marloes Dekker Nitert



LUND UNIVERSITY

Faculty of Medicine Department of Experimental Medical Science Lund 2007

Table of Contents

Table of Contents	2
Abstract	4
List of Papers	5
Abbreviations	6
Introduction	7
Diabetes Mellitus	7
Background	7
Types of Diabetes Mellitus	7
	°
Insulin Secretion	9
Islets of Langerhans	9
The wells of curite description in θ could	$-\frac{10}{12}$
Lisida in incontanta in p-cells	13
Calcium and voltage-gated calcium channels	-14
	15
Insulin Action	16
Insulin	-16
Larget organs	17
Insulin resistance	1/
Effects of insulin on endothelial cells	$-\frac{19}{20}$
IGF-I, the IGF-I receptor, and hybrid receptors	21
Insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I)	-21
IGF-I receptor	$-\frac{22}{22}$
Collular signaling	$-\frac{23}{22}$
	23
Aim	25
Models and Methods	26
Models	26
Cell models (Paper I, IV, V)	26
Animal models (Paper II, III)	26
Methods	27
RNA interference (Paper I)	27
Fluorescent measurements of intracellular Ca ²⁺ concentrations (Paper I)	28
Patch clamp (Paper I)	29
Metabolic assays (Paper I, II, and III)	29
Receptor identification (Paper IV and V)	29
Results	31
The role of Ca _V 1.2 in insulin secretion from INS-I 832/13 cells (Paper I)	31
eta -cell adaptation to insulin resistance in a mouse high-fat diet model (Paper II) _	32
Glucose tolerance in RIP2 C57BL/6J mice (Paper III)	33
Insulin receptors and IGF-I receptors in human endothelial cells (Paper IV and V)_34
2	

Discussion	35
Summary and Conclusions	38
Popular Scientific Summary	41
Acknowledgments	44
References	46

Abstract

The global increase in incidence of Diabetes Mellitus has assumed epidemic proportions. Type 2 Diabetes is the most prevalent form of diabetes, comprising 90% of the patients. In Type 2 Diabetes, two fundamental processes contribute to the development of the disease: insufficient insulin secretion from the pancreatic β -cell and insulin resistance in the target organs. This leads to loss of control of blood glucose levels, the hallmark of all forms of diabetes. Although blood glucose levels can be controlled by a variety of life-style and pharmacological interventions, complications often arise. These complications include cardiovascular disease, retinopathy, neuropathy, and nephropathy. In this thesis, different aspects of pathophysiological mechanisms in Type 2 Diabetes were studied. The aims were (i) to identify the voltage-gated calcium channel that is coupled to glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in the rat clonal β -cell line INS-1 832/13; (ii) to investigate the mechanism of β -cell adaptation in the C57BL/6J mouse model of insulin resistance; (iii) to determine whether glucose tolerance is a feature in the RIP2-Cre mouse model, which is commonly used for β -cell specific knockout of genes; and (iv) to study the presence of insulin receptors and IGF-I receptors in human endothelial cells of different origin. It was established that Cav1.2 is the main voltage-gated calcium channel coupled to glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in INS-1 832/13 cells, confirming previous results obtained from mouse β -cells. C57BL/6J mice on a high-fat diet become insulin resistant but do not develop diabetes. The adaptation could be attributed to compensatory hypersecretion of insulin, which may be due to a shift in utilization of metabolic fuels from glucose to fatty acids and amino acids. This is reflected by increased mitochondrial mass observed in the β -cells of the insulin-resistant C57BL/6] mice. C57BL/6] mice were also used for backcrossing RIP2-Cre mice onto a pure genetic background. The expression of Cre recombinase did not affect glucose tolerance, insulin secretion or β cell mass in this pure genetic background. Therefore, this mouse line can be used in β -cell specific knockout studies, where there is a focus on glucose homeostasis. Human endothelial cells from coronary artery and umbilical vein expressed more IGF-I receptors than insulin receptors. Indications of the presence of insulin/IGF-I hybrid receptors were found in both endothelial cell types. These results reflect the importance of IGF-I in the development of vascular complications of Diabetes Mellitus. Thus, our work has examined aspects of the pathogenic mechanisms involved in perturbations of both secretion and action of insulin, highlighting the complexity of Type 2 Diabetes.

List of Papers

- I Nitert, MD, Wendt, A, Eliasson, L, Mulder, H. *Ca*_v1.2, *rather than Ca*_v1.3, *is coupled to glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in INS-I 832/13 cells.* Submitted.
- II Fex, M, Nitert, MD, Wierup, N, Sundler, F, Ling, C, Mulder, H (2007). Enhanced mitochondrial metabolism may account for the adaptation to insulin resistance in islets from C57BL/6J mice fed a high-fat diet. Diabetologia 50 (1): 74-83.
- III Fex, M, Wierup, N, Nitert, MD, Ristow, M, Mulder, H (2007). RIP2-Cre mice bred onto a pure C57BL/6J background exhibit unaltered glucose tolerance. Journal of Endocrinology 194 (3): 551-5.
- IV Nitert, MD, Chisalita, SI, Olsson, K, Bornfeldt, KE, Arnqvist, HJ (2005). IGF-I/Insulin hybrid receptors in human endothelial cells. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology 229 (1-2): 31-7.
- V Chisalita, SI, Nitert, MD, Arnqvist, HJ (2006). *Characterisation of receptors* for IGF-I and insulin; evidence for hybrid insulin/IGF-I receptor in human coronary artery endothelial cells. Growth Hormone & IGF Research 16 (4): 258-66.

Articles are reproduced with permission of Springer (Paper II), Society for Endocrinology (Paper III), and Elsevier (Papers IV and V)

Abbreviations

adenosine triphosphate
2-amino-2-norbornanecarboxylic acid
intracellular calcium concentration
voltage-gated calcium channel
cyclic adenosine monophosphate
cyclic guanosine monophosphate
coenzyme A
cytochrome c oxidase IV
carnitine palmitoyl transferase I
extracellular signal-regulated kinase
flavine adenine dinucleotide
Goto-Kakizaki
human coronary artery endothelial cells
high fat
human umbilical vein endothelial cells
the concentration needed for half-maximal displacement
of the radioactively labeled substrate
insulin-like growth factor I
insulin-like growth factor I binding protein
insulin receptor substrate
intravenous glucose tolerance test
ATP-sensitive potassium channel
mitogen-activated protein kinase
mitochondrial DNA
nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
nicotinamide nucleotide transhydrogenase
nitric oxide
nuclear respiratory factor 1
Otsuka Long Evans Tokushima Fatty rat
peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ coactivator-1
phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase
protein kinase B
rat insulin promoter 2-Cre recombinase
RNA interference
short interfering RNA
mitochondrial transcription factor A
uncoupling protein 2

Introduction

Diabetes Mellitus

Background

Diabetes Mellitus is characterized by increased blood glucose levels. The incidence of diabetes is on the rise globally [1]. A recent study predicted an increase in the prevalence of diabetes in the United States to 14.5% of the population, or 37.7 million people, by 2031 [2]. The World Health Organisation predicts that 300 million people will suffer from diabetes in 2025, a devastating rise from the 137 million in 1997 [3, 4]. The largest increase will occur in the developing world, particularly in Asia, due to profound changes in demographics, epidemiology and socioeconomical conditions [5]. China and India, which already now have the largest number of patients with diabetes, will be afflicted by the greatest numbers of new diagnoses [4]. In the same study, the number of people suffering from diabetes in Sweden is predicted to be 827 000 people, or 11.2% of the population in 2025.

Types of Diabetes Mellitus

Diabetes Mellitus is not a single disease but a group of metabolic diseases, all of which exhibit the hallmark increase in blood glucose levels. Traditionally, Diabetes Mellitus has been subdivided in two types. Type 1 Diabetes, or Juvenile Diabetes, is usually diagnosed in childhood or adolescence, and is caused by an absolute deficiency in insulin secretion. This type of diabetes results from an autoimmune attack on the pancreatic β -cells, which leads to their destruction. Insulin can no longer be produced and control over blood glucose levels is lost. At the time of diagnosis, patients have lost a large proportion of their β -cells, rendering them unable to control blood glucose levels by secreting insulin. This type of diabetes is treated with exogenous insulin.

Type 2 Diabetes manifests itself typically later in life and is associated with aging, obesity, lack of exercise, and insulin resistance in adipose tissue, liver and muscle [6, 7]. Approximately 90% of all patients with Diabetes suffer from Type 2 Diabetes [1]. Alarmingly, the diagnosis of this form of Diabetes is now becoming more frequent in younger individuals. Type 2 diabetes is characterized by the presence of two basic abnormalities: impaired insulin secretion and decreased insulin sensitivity. The pathophysiological spectrum of Type 2 Diabetes spans from insulin resistance with a minor secretory defect to a predominant secretory defect with near-normal insulin sensitivity [8]. Thus, blood glucose levels may increase despite high levels of circulating insulin, as a direct consequence of insulin resistance. In Type 2 Diabetes, secretory defects in β -cells are frequently present before overt diabetes sets in [9, 10].

Genes as well as environmental conditions play a role in the pathogenesis of Type 2 Diabetes. Patients generally have alterations in various genes, each having a partial and additive effect. Genetic susceptibility is made up of different genes and gene combinations [11]. Gene mapping has identified more than 30 chromosomal regions each containing one or more susceptibility genes [11]: the penetration rate of these genetic regions varies in different ethnic groups [8]. The field of genetics has undergone a paradigm shift in the last year. Genome-wide scans, which are performed in large population samples and are not hypothesis-based, have yielded major results. The genes that have been identified as associated with Type 2 Diabetes in multiple population samples in these scans are *TCF7L2*, *IGF2BP2*, *CDKAL1*, *HHEX*, *CDKN2B*, *KCJN11*, *PPARG* [12-16]. The transcription factor TCF7L2 has been shown to be more strongly associated with Type 2 Diabetes than any other gene previously identified [17]. Moreover, the majority of diabetes genes appears to be implicated in β -cell function. Activation of the genetic predisposition requires the presence of environmental and behavioral factors, especially those associated with lifestyle. Risk factors for Type 2 Diabetes can be classified as nonmodifiable and modifiable. Non-modifiable risk factors include genetic factors, age and gender, and previous gestational diabetes. Modifiable risk factors are obesity, with a focus on the distribution of adipose tissue, physical inactivity and nutritional factors [18].

Treatment of Type 2 Diabetes is determined by the severity of the symptoms. It ranges from life-style interventions, such as change of diet and exercise habits, to oral medications to increase the output of insulin from the β -cells with sulfonylureas. The sensitivity to insulin can be increased in the liver with metformin, which reduces hepatic glucose production. Thiazolidinediones are used to increase peripheral tissue uptake of insulin [19]. When these treatments fail, one has to resort to treatment with exogenous insulin.

More recently, additional variants of Diabetes Mellitus have been elucidated, blurring the black/white distinction between Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes. These forms include maturity-onset diabetes of the young (MODY), which results from mutations in single genes, and latent autoimmune diabetes in adults (LADA), which is characterized by clinical features resembling those of Type 2 Diabetes in combination with circulating auto-antibodies in adults.

Complications of Diabetes Mellitus

Diabetes Mellitus is associated with increased risk of vascular complications. Vascular complications can be subdivided in microvascular and macrovascular disease, which is based on the size of the affected arteries. In microvascular disease, the vascular wall thickens and also weakens, leading to protein leakage, bleeding and diminished blood flow through the vessel. Damage of surrounding cells leads to retinopathy, nephropathy and also neuropathy. Microvascular complications, which rarely are isolated occurrences, constitute the major complication in Type 1 Diabetes. In Type 2 Diabetes, microvascular complications are frequently present at diagnosis, with 20% of the patients suffering from retinopathy, 9% neuropathy, and up to 10% exhibiting overt nephropathy [20]. Diabetic nephropathy accounts for approximately 40% of new cases of end-stage renal disease [20]. Peripheral neuropathy and peripheral vascular disease are major risk factors for diabetic foot ulcers and amputations, and are thereby major causes of morbidity in diabetic patients. Diabetic retinopathy, which virtually all patients with diabetes develop within 20 years of diagnosis, is the leading cause of blindness in the adult population [20]. Prolonged hyperglycemia is thought to be the major mechanism of microvascular disease. Other factors, such as insulin resistance, increased body mass index, age of diagnosis and hypertension are also of importance [21-23]. The risk of developing microvascular complications declines when good glycemic control is achieved [24-26].

Atherosclerosis is a chronic inflammatory condition, which is initiated in the endothelium after an injury occurs. The sustained inflammation results from interactions between modified lipoproteins, macrophages and constituents of the arterial wall. In Type 2 Diabetes, the risk for macrovascular disease is substantially increased [27]. Just as atherosclerosis in non-diabetic patients, macrovascular disease is complicated by thromboembolic disease; deposits of fat and blood clots build up in the vessels, sticking to the vessel walls and thereby hindering blood flow. The clots can detach and block blood flow in slightly smaller vessels. Coronary disease, cerebrovascular disease and peripheral vascular disease are atherosclerotic manifestations of macrovascular disease. The mortality rate from cardiovascular disease is higher in patients with diabetes than in the general population [28]. The risk of developing coronary artery diseases is increased two to four fold in diabetes and the risk of stroke is also amplified. In fact, coronary heart disease is the leading cause of death in Type 2 Diabetes [29]. Indeed, a recent study reported that the risk of cardiovascular mortality is increased in subjects with impaired fasting glucose and impaired glucose tolerance as well as Type 2 Diabetes [29]. Furthermore, the incidence and severity of peripheral artery disease are increased in diabetes [30]. In macrovascular disease, the association between glycemic control and the development of macrovascular complications is not clear [24-26]. Hyperglycemia adds to the effects of oxidative stress and dyslipidemia, which have been suggested to accelerate and exacerbate the inflammatory processes leading to atherosclerosis [31, 32]. Furthermore, diabetes is often accompanied by hypertension, which in itself is a contributing factor to the pathogenesis of heart failure. Also, diabetic cardiomyopathy, which is secondary to diabetes but independent from the presence of coronary atherosclerosis, is a risk factor in heart failure [28]. Increases in circulatory glucose levels result in increased oxidative stress, increased nonenzymatic glycosylation of proteins and cardioneuropathy [33].

Insulin Secretion

Islets of Langerhans

The islets of Langerhans constitute the endocrine pancreas and are spread throughout the pancreas; they are more numerous in the tail region. In humans, the one to two million islets make up only one to two percent of the pancreatic mass. The islets consist of two major cell types. The β -cells produce insulin and constitute 60 to 80% of the islet cell population. The α -cells synthesize glucagon and make up 10 to 30% of the population. The remainder of the cells in the islets is δ -cells, accounting for approximately 5% of the islet cells, and are the source of somatostatin, and PP-cells producing pancreatic polypeptide. In the pancreas, somatostatin inhibits the secretion of insulin and glucagon as well as secretion from the exocrine pancreas. Pancreatic polypeptide decreases secretion from the exocrine pancreas. Generally, the β -cells are located centrally in the islets of humans and rodents, whereas the α -cells and the δ -cells are at the periphery of the islet. β -cells are inter-connected by gap junctions permitting electrical conductivity between the cells. These gap junctions may therefore couple a number of β -cells in a functional unit for insulin secretion. β , α and δ are electrically excitable cells. The islets are innervated by autonomic afferent nerves and are well vascularized. The efferent vessels from the islets drain into the portal vein, exposing the liver to very high concentrations of insulin [34, 35].

Glucose-stimulated insulin secretion

The β -cells in the islets of Langerhans secrete insulin in response to increases in the blood glucose levels. β -cells are uniquely equipped for aerobic metabolism, *i.e.* the conversion of glucose carbons to carbon dioxide and water, which occurs with an efficiency of 80% in β -cells [36]. This probably results from low expression levels of lactate dehydrogenase [36] and plasma membrane lactate/monocarboxylate transporter, while levels of mitochondrial glycerol phosphate dehydrogenase are high [37]. Under these circumstances, the rate of glycolysis will be high, and its end-product pyruvate, will be fully oxidized in the citric acid cycle.

Glucose enters the β -cell through a high-capacity, low-affinity, noninsulin dependent glucose transporter, Glut2 in rodents, which ensures the continuous flow of glucose into the β -cell. It is phosphorylated to glucose- β phosphate by glucokinase, which has a high K_m and therefore determines the rate of glycolysis. Glycolysis is the enzymatic breakdown of glucose by way of phosphate derivatives with the production of pyruvate and energy stored in high-energy anhydride bonds of ATP. Each glucose molecule gives rise to two pyruvate molecules, two ATP molecules and 2 NADH molecules, the reduced form of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide. Acetyl-coenzyme A (acetyl-CoA), a two carbon-molecule, is then formed from pyruvate in the pyruvate dehydrogenase complex reducing another NAD⁺ to NADH. The acetyl-CoA enters the citric acid cycle in the mitochondria, where the two carbon atoms are oxidized. This process gives rise to more reduced electron carriers, 3NADH and 1FADH₂ per acetyl-CoA, as well as the production of 1 ATP.

The reduced electron carriers (NADH and FADH₂) are reoxidized in the electron transport chain, a process that culminates in ATP synthesis. The mitochondrial electron transport chain is a multiprotein unit grouped into four complexes (I to IV), which are located within the mitochondrial inner membrane. The final fate of the electrons is reduction of oxygen to water. Complex I, III and IV are reduction- and oxidation-driven proton pumps that use energy carried by the electrons to pump protons out of the matrix. This creates a proton electrochemical potential gradient across the inner mitochondrial membrane. The protons subsequently reenter the mitochondrial matrix via ATP synthase (complex V), and the energy released from the electrochemical gradient drives synthesis of ATP from ADP. For each NADH, a maximum of 3 ATP molecules can be generated whereas 2 ATPs are produced per FADH₂ oxidized.

The generated ATP is transported from the mitochondria to the cytoplasm in exchange for ADP by the adenine nucleotide translocator, changing the ratio of ATP to ADP in the cytoplasm. This change in the ratio is thought to close the ATP-sensitive potassium channel (K_{ATP} -channel) resulting in depolarization of the plasma membrane. Subsequently, voltage-sensitive calcium channels open and calcium flows into the cell. Intracellular calcium concentrations in the cytoplasm increase and this triggers the secretion of insulin granules (see figure 1). This constitutes the first phase of insulin secretion, which lasts five to ten minutes [38] (see Figure 1). The second, more sustained, phase of insulin secretion does not involve further closure of K_{ATP} -channels nor changes in total cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ concentrations. Therefore other signaling events as well as local changes in cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ are thought to underlie this phase of insulin secretion.

In the second phase of insulin secretion, the pace of secretion is slower than in the first phase. It has been suggested that the insulin granules secreted in the first and second phase of insulin secretion originate from different pools of insulin granules [39]. The granules that are secreted during the first phase stem from the readily releasable pool, a small pool of insulin granules that are primed and docked, residing near the plasma membrane [40]. Only approximately 50 granules per cell are secreted during the first phase [40]. The granules secreted during the second phase are thought to belong to a different pool of granules, the reserve pool, and are localized in the cytoplasm further from the plasma membrane. The granules from the reserve pool need to be mobilized and primed before secretion; this is a time-, Ca^{2+} and ATP-dependent process [41].

The K_{ATP} -channel-/calcium-dependent pathway of insulin secretion is also called the triggering pathway. This is contrasted with the amplifying pathway, which augments insulin secretion that has been provoked by the triggering pathway [42]. The amplifying pathway can be unmasked by conditions where a high concentration of K⁺ and the K_{ATP} -channel opener diazoxide, are present; high [K⁺] ensures that the plasma membrane is depolarized, and the presence of diazoxide prevents closure of the K_{ATP} -channel. Under these conditions high glucose levels will still enhance insulin secretion despite the fact that the K_{ATP} -channel is bypassed, alas K_{ATP} -independent glucose sensing. Alternatively, when the K_{ATP} -channel is closed, by sulfonylureas, a stimulatory effect of glucose on insulin secretion is still evident.



Figure 1. Glucose-stimulated insulin secretion. Glucose enters the cell using the glucose transporter (Glut) and is metabolized in glycolysis, yielding pyruvate. Pyruvate enters the citric acid cycle (CAC) in the mitochondrion (mt). This promotes ATP production by the electron transport chain (e⁻ chain). ATP is transported from the mitochondrion, increases the ATP:ADP ratio, and closes the K_{ATP} channel. The membrane potential decreases and this opens voltage-gated calcium channels (VDCC) allowing calcium (Ca²⁺) to enter the cell and signal for the release of insulin granules.

The amplifying pathway does not increase Ca^{2+} concentrations further and relies on the triggering pathway to increase the Ca^{2+} concentrations to permissive levels before it can augment insulin secretion.

The amplifying pathway was first identified in rodents in 1992 [43, 44] and in humans in 1998 [45], and requires prior activation of insulin secretion via the triggering pathway. It is, as yet, unclear what exactly constitutes the amplifying signal, although metabolism of glucose appears to be required for the signal. Mitochondria have been implicated as the main source of the amplifying signal. The additive signal has alternatively been proposed to be ATP, the ATP/ADP ratio, GTP, cAMP, NADPH as well as metabolites that do not directly derive from mitochondria, such as glutamate and malonyl-CoA (see for review [46]). However, for a number of these, e.g., cAMP/protein kinase A, protein kinase C, long-chain acyl-coAs, phospholipase A2, and nitric oxide (NO)/cGMP, there is little supporting evidence [47]. Nevertheless, abundance of ATP is a requirement for the priming of insulin granules from the reserve pool and remains a candidate for being a factor in the amplifying pathway of insulin secretion [40].

Anaplerosis has been suggested to be the source of coupling factors for the amplifying pathway. This could potentially be through the generation of intermediates that stimulate the amplifying pathway or through the generation of reducing equivalents, ATP or GTP. Anaplerosis, *i.e.* the filling up the citric acid cycle with intermediates that are channeled into anabolic pathways, can be executed by conversion of pyruvate into oxaloacetate by pyruvate carboxylase instead of pyruvate into acetyl-CoA by pyruvate dehydrogenase [48] (see Figure 2). Indeed, pyruvate carboxylase is present in high amounts in pancreatic β cells as compared to other islet cells [36, 48]; approximately 40% of pyruvate entering the citric acid cycle enters by carboxylation to oxaloacetate by pyruvate carboxylase [49]. Stimulated flow of intermediates from the citric acid cycle (cataplerosis) into the synthesis of coupling factors or macromolecules is believed to sustain stimulus-secretion coupling and β -cell growth [36]. Also, anaplerosis may be crucial for augmenting the pyruvate/malate shuttle, which results in the formation of cytosolic NADPH [50]. Thus, oxaloacetate, formed in the reaction catalyzed by pyruvate carboxylase, is a substrate for the pyruvate/malate shuttle yielding cytosolic NADPH, which is a putative coupling factor [50].

In addition to the initiator effects of the fuel secretagogues, potentiator molecules exist which enhance secretion at permissive but submaximal fuel secretagogue concentrations. These potentiator molecules include acetylcholine, glucagon-like peptide, gastric inhibitory peptide, and pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide [51]. Most of the potentiator molecules employ cAMP or Ca²⁺ as second messenger molecules.



Figure 2. The citric acid cycle in mitochondria. Pyruvate enters the mitochondria and is converted into acetyl-CoA or oxaloacetate and enters the cycle. The cycle produces NADH, FADH₂, GTP and CO₂. NADH and FADH₂ subsequently donate electrons to the electron transport chain, which is coupled to the synthesis of ATP.

The role of mitochondria in β-cells

Mitochondria may have originally been derived from the symbiotic association of oxidative bacteria and glycolytic pro-eukaryotic cells [52]. The main function of the mitochondria is the generation of energy in the form of ATP. The number of mitochondria per eukaryotic cell varies from several hundred to several thousand, depending on the cell type [53]. However, a study using targeted green fluorescent proteins indicated that mitochondria constitute a continuous network in the cell instead of individual units [54]. Each mitochondrion possesses a few copies of maternally-inherited mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA), which is circular and consists of coding sequences only. The proofreading capacity of mitochondrial DNA polymerase is poor and the mutation rate in mtDNA is therefore high. The mtDNA is located close to the respiratory chain and is therefore sensitive to oxidative stress. However, since a few copies of mtDNA are present in each mitochondrion, mutations are generally present in only a fraction of the mtDNA in the cell giving rise to heteroplasmy [53]. Human mtDNA encodes for tRNAs and 13 polypeptides that encode for subunits of the multi-subunit enzyme complexes for respiration. However, the majority of the subunits for these complexes is encoded in the nucleus and imported into mitochondria as proteins. Nuclear-encoded proteins, such as mitochondrial transcription factor A (TFAM), also determine the transcriptional rate [55]. Deletion of the Tfam gene from β -cells in mice causes a diabetic phenotype with decreased glucose-stimulated insulin secretion [56]. In humans, a maternally inherited mutation of a mitochondrially encoded tRNA gives rise to diabetes; mutations in mtDNA giving rise to diabetes, account for approximately 1% of all diabetes cases [57]. This type of diabetes is not associated with insulin resistance but rather with reduced glucose-stimulated insulin secretion [58].

Knock-down of nicotinamide nucleotide transhydrogenase (Nnt), which is a nuclear-encoded mitochondrial protein in mouse β -cells produces a dramatic reduction in insulin secretion and prevents the rise in intracellular Ca^{2+} after stimulation with glucose [59]. This is the result of impaired ATP production in response to glucose, which subsequently fails to close the K_{ATP} channel [59]. Similar results are observed in C57BL/6J mice in which Nnt protein is deleted [60]. Nnt is located in the inner mitochondrial membrane and it serves as a redox-driven proton pump catalyzing the reversible reduction of NADP to NADPH by NADH, which is converted into NAD⁺, pumping a hydrogen atom from the cytosol to the mitochondrial matrix [61]. Nnt is a major generator of NADPH and it couples this production to the rate of mitochondrial metabolism. It also couples NADPH production to the production of reactive oxygen species generated by the electron transport chain [61]. Reactive oxygen species stimulate the activity of uncoupling protein-2 (UCP2), leading to increased proton leakage across the inner mitochondrial membrane, reducing the electromotive force and thereby ATP synthesis [62]. Nnt may provide a protective buffer against the dissipation of either the cellular redox power or of the mitochondrial energy supply [61].

Lipids in insulin secretion

Insulin secretion is influenced by the presence of lipids under both normal and pathophysiological circumstances [63-66]. Mitochondrial ATP production can also result from oxidation by fatty acids; long-chain acyl-CoAs are imported into the mitochondria for oxidation, a process regulated by carnitine palmitoyl transferase I (CPT-I). However, oxidation by fatty acids alone cannot provoke insulin secretion. This conundrum is unresolved but may relate to the fact that the acetyl-CoA produced by fatty acid oxidation in mitochondria does not provide a net addition of carbons to the citric acid cycle [67]. Under such circumstances, anaplerosis and cataplerosis, processes critical for glucose-stimulated insulin secretion are not stimulated.

It has been suggested that in glucose-stimulated β -cells, citrate from the citric acid cycle is exported from the mitochondria. In the cytosol, citrate is hydrolyzed, and the carbons are transferred to CoA to form acetyl-CoA. Acetyl-CoA carboxylase catalyzes the synthesis of malonyl-CoA, which is a lipid precursor. Malonyl-CoA prevents fatty acid transport into the mitochondria by inhibition of CPT-I [68]. Thus, fatty acid oxidation is reduced, favoring the synthesis of long-chain acyl-CoAs in the cytosol (for a review see [69]). Long-chain acyl-CoA is thought to be an effector molecule, which may affect multiple targets in the β -cell, e.g., stimulation of CPT-I in the absence of stimulatory glucose concentrations [70], and activation of protein kinase C [71]. Long-chain acyl-CoA is thought to stimulate endoplasmatic reticulum Ca²⁺ ATPase, and peroxisome proliferation [69].

Under non-stimulatory glucose conditions, endogenous triacylglycerols are important fuels in intermediary metabolism of pancreatic islets. Free fatty acids potentiate glucose-stimulated insulin secretion both *in vivo* and *in vitro* [63, 64, 72]. Whether the source of fatty acids for this potentiation is intracellular or extracellular is unclear. On one hand, β -cells store triacylglycerols and express the hormone-sensitive lipase, which may generate lipids for stimulus-secretion coupling [73, 74]. On the other hand, it has been speculated that the effects of fatty acids on β -cells may, at least in part, be mediated by G-protein coupled transmembrane receptors, GPR-40, without entering the β -cell [75].

Free fatty acids may exert different effects on insulin secretion depending on the duration of exposure. Short-term exposure, *e.g.* 3 hours or less, increases glucose-stimulated insulin secretion whereas long-term exposure, *e.g.* more than 6 hours, has the opposite effect [72, 76]. Chronic exposure to free fatty acids even decreases glucose-induced proinsulin and total biosynthesis in rat islets [72, 77]. Hyperlipidemia, which is present in obesity and frequently in Type 2 Diabetes patients, increases the cytosolic concentration of long-chain CoAs. Hyperglycemia also increases the cytosolic long-chain acyl-CoA concentration via the inhibition of CPT-I by malonyl-CoA [69]. Both these events may play a role in "glucolipotoxicity" [78].

Calcium and voltage-gated calcium channels

Voltage-gated calcium channels are part of a family of multi-subunit ion channels. The channels play a key role in triggering Ca^{2+} signaling in a wide variety of cells. Their function is to serve as Ca^{2+} -conducting pores in the plasma membrane. When the plasma membrane depolarizes, the channel pores undergo a rapid conformational switch, from the impermeable state to the permeable, allowing the influx of extracellular Ca^{2+} into the cytoplasm [79]. The channels consist of an α_1 , an $\alpha_2\delta$, and a β -subunit. The association of the α subunit with the other subunits is required for the functional expression of the channels.

The α_1 subunit has different primary structures and mainly confers the electrophysiological and pharmacological properties of the channel. The α_1 subunits form the ion-conducting pore of the calcium channel. Several poreforming calcium channel α_1 -subunits of voltage-sensitive calcium channels have been identified in rat pancreatic islets and β -cell lines; Ca_v1.2, Ca_v1.3, $Ca_{v}2.1$, $Ca_{v}2.2$, $Ca_{v}2.3$, and $Ca_{v}3.1$ [80-86]. The contributions of the different calcium channels to the increase in $\lceil Ca^{2+} \rceil_i$ have been extensively studied. Approximately 60 to 70% of the rat and mouse whole-cell current in β -cells are resistant to dihydropyridines [83, 87-92]. The major dihydropyridine-sensitive calcium channels in rat β -cells are Ca_v1.2 or Ca_v1.3, with different studies emphasizing the role of either Ca_v1.2 or Ca_v1.3 [90, 93, 94]. In mouse β -cells, Cav1.2 is the only major dihydropyridine-sensitive calcium channel [88], although $Ca_v 1.3$ has also been reported to be present [91, 95]. However, $Ca_v 1.3$ has been found not to affect insulin secretion in a mouse knock-out model and probably plays a minor role in insulin secretion in mouse β -cells [96]. In human islets, both $Ca_v 1.2$ and $Ca_v 1.3$ are present [89]. Calcium currents that can be inhibited by ω -conotoxin GVIA, which is known to block Ca_v2.2, have been reported in rat β -cells but the role of this calcium channel in insulin secretion is controversial [97, 98]. Ca_v2.3, which is inhibited by SNX-482, accounts for another 18% of the Ca²⁺ current in mouse β -cells [99]. The role of Ca_v2.3 in rat β cells is not clear since it has been reported that 25% of insulin secretion in rat INS-1 β -cells was inhibited by SNX-482 [100], whereas others reported no effect of SNX-482 in the same cell line [101]. In human islets, Ca_v2.3 has been identified immunohistochemically [81]. Low-voltage activated calcium channels; Ca_v3.1, Ca_v3.2 and Ca_v3.3, are not found in mouse pancreatic β -cells

[102]. In humans, however, these low-voltage calcium channels are readily detected [103, 104].

The β subunit of the voltage-gated calcium channels is located in the cytoplasm and is linked to the α_1 subunit [105]. The α_2 subunit is bound by a disulfide bridge to its post-translationally cleaved transmembrane δ peptide that links it to the α_1 subunit [106]. Both $\alpha_2\delta$ and β subunits modulate the channel. The limited mobility of the N-terminal part of the α_1 subunit appears important for the integration of the β subunit and the C-terminus of the α_1 subunit in inactivation of the channel in the case of Ca_v1.2 [107].

The electrical activity of the pancreatic β-cell consists of oscillations in the membrane potential between depolarized plateaus, from which Ca2+dependent action potentials originate and which are separated by repolarizations of the membrane potential [39]. The Ca²⁺ influx into the cell is pulsatile and has been coupled to oscillatory insulin secretion [108-111]. In β -cells, Ca²⁺ microdomains, *i.e.* small domains with a local high Ca²⁺ concentration, are presumed to exist beneath the plasma membrane (reviewed in [112]). The Ca²⁺ concentration in these domains is high enough to stimulate insulin vesicle release as opposed to the lower Ca²⁺ concentration in the bulk of the cytosol. The intracellular calcium store in the endoplasmatic reticulum may also play a role in the local variations in Ca²⁺ influx [113, 114] by prompting local variations in membrane potential when the endoplasmatic reticulum calcium is depleted. The endoplasmatic reticulum calcium store is filled when calcium enters the cells after stimulation with secretagogues [113]. In β -cells, co-localization of Ca_y1.2 and insulin granules has been identified [115, 116]. This would then create a Ca²⁺ microdomain near the insulin granules initiating granule release. Voltage-gated calcium channels that are not sensitive to dihydropyridines appear not to be co-localized with granules and apparently do not play a major role in triggering insulin granule release [88]. It has been proposed that these channels instead exert control of electrical activity [117], and in the case of $Ca_{y}2.3$, are more important for the second phase of insulin secretion [99]. Another Ca²⁺ microdomain may be formed in the immediate surroundings of a proportion of the insulin granule pool located close to the plasma membrane but not surrounding insulin granules further from the plasma membrane [118, 119].

A number of studies have linked perturbations in expression of voltagegated calcium channels with Diabetes Mellitus. Wistar rats treated with streptozocin as well as OLETF rats, which are models for Type 2 Diabetes, exhibit decreased mRNA levels of the Ca_v1.2 α_1 subunit but also β_2 and β_3 subunit [120]. These rats show higher basal insulin secretion and profoundly impaired glucose-stimulated insulin secretion. Currents through the Ca_v1.2 and/or the Ca_v1.3 channels are, however, increased in Goto-Kakizaki (GK) rats and also in Wistar rats treated with streptozocin (at a slightly lower dose) [121, 122]. In humans, a rare mutation in the Ca_v1.2 gene has been associated with episodic serum hypoglycemia [123].

Insulin Action

Insulin

Insulin is a hormone that is required for normal growth and development. Its unique function is to directly lower blood glucose levels. In humans, the half-life of insulin is approximately 5 to 10 minutes. Insulin arises from a precursor

that consists of A, B and C domains. The C-domain is cleaved from proinsulin, giving rise to mature insulin, which consists of 51 amino acids, and the connecting (C)-peptide. Insulin mediates its role through binding to its receptor on the membrane of target cells. The binding of insulin to its receptor triggers signals to branching series of intracellular pathways regulating cell metabolism, growth, differentiation and survival [124]. Insulin increases protein synthesis by increasing the number of initiated ribosomes and thereby promotes the initiation of translation.

Target organs

Insulin exerts its action in a large number of tissues. The major targets for insulin, however, are skeletal muscle, adipose tissue and liver. Skeletal muscle and liver are essential for maintaining normal glucose homeostasis. Insulin exerts its effect on the target cells by binding to the insulin receptors (see below). In many target organs, insulin activates the rapid synthesis of glycogen by stimulating glycogen synthase activity. This accounts for approximately 70% of all glucose that is disposed post-prandially [125]. In skeletal muscle, the major effect of insulin is stimulation of the translocation of the Glut4 glucose transporter to the plasma membrane, which ensures the uptake of glucose into the skeletal muscle cell. Seventy to 80% of all insulin-mediated glucose disposal is accounted for by skeletal muscle. In hepatocytes, insulin receptor binding decreases the hepatic glucose production conferred by gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis, thereby controlling blood glucose concentrations. Insulin stimulates glycolysis and glycogen synthesis in the liver. The insulin concentration in the portal vein is cardinal for conveying these effect of insulin [125]. In contrast to skeletal muscle, insulin only plays a permissive role, not a stimulatory role, in glucose uptake by hepatocytes, which express Glut2.

In adipocytes, insulin binding to its receptor also activates Glut4 translocation to the plasma membrane. However, glucose uptake in adipocytes only accounts for approximately 5% of insulin-mediated glucose uptake [125]. Activation of Glut4 translocation results in an acute 20- to 40-fold stimulation of transportation rates of glucose [126]. If excess glucose is available, insulin stimulates glucose metabolism to glycerol 3-phosphate, which is then coupled to fatty acids to form triacylglycerol. Triacylglycerol accounts for fat storage in adipocytes. Insulin inhibits lipolysis, by inactivation of hormone-sensitive lipase [127]. Pancreatic β -cells, in the rat and the mouse, also express receptors for insulin [128, 129]. These receptors are involved in control of β -cell mass, and may be involved in glucose-stimulated insulin secretion. β -cell-specific knock-out of the insulin receptor results in a decrease in first phase glucosestimulated insulin secretion and progressive age-dependent glucose intolerance [130].

Insulin resistance

Insulin resistance is a fundamental abnormality in the pathophysiology of Type 2 Diabetes mellitus [131]. Insulin resistance typically occurs before the onset of hyperglycemia [10, 131]. In insulin resistance, glucose metabolism is affected while other effects of insulin may not be as attenuated [33]. Insulin resistance is present in up to 50% of people with essential hypertension and it has been associated with congestive heart failure [132].

Insulin resistance implies a reduced response to insulin in its target tissues. This comprises decreased insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in skeletal muscle and impaired suppression of endogenous glucose production by the liver, both of which are critical for maintaining normal glucose homeostasis. Insulin resistance is partly explained by genetic factors. It may be the earliest identifier of subsequent cardiovascular disease risk and it is an early diabetes risk factor. Insulin resistance is frequently observed in Type 2 Diabetes, but also in people with central obesity, atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease, and most dyslipidemias. Hyperlipidemia induces insulin resistance and many changes in nutrient and hormonal levels, which all could affect β -cell function as well as skeletal muscle and liver. Not all insulin-resistant individuals, however, develop Type 2 Diabetes. Since insulin action involves a cascade of events, disruptions at any stage of the cascade may lead to insulin resistance.

Adipose tissue is proposed to play a major role in the development of insulin resistance [133]. Adipose tissue affects whole body glucose metabolism by regulating the circulating free fatty acid concentrations. Moreover, adipose tissue has been identified as an endocrine organ, and is able to secrete a number of adipokines, including leptin, adiponectin, tumor necrosis factor- α , interleukin-6, resistin, and insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) [66]. Adipokines influence insulin sensitivity and food intake, implicating another pathway for adipose tissue to influence whole body glucose metabolism [134]. Associations between adiponectin, insulin sensitivity, cardiovascular disease and endothelial functions have been reported, linking lipids to the occurrence of vascular complications of diabetes [135]. In addition to regulation of food intake, a functional role of leptin may be the regulation of intracellular homeostasis of fatty acids and triglycerides in non-adipocytes. Hereby, a sufficient supply of fatty acids is maintained for essential cellular functions while triglyceride overload is avoided [133]. In diet-induced obesity, leptin resistance develops and this may be part of the slow overaccumulation of lipids observed in many tissues in Type 2 Diabetes, i.e., lipotoxicity [66]. A widely embraced hypothesis is that insulin resistance is the result of changes in the fat distribution among adipose tissue, muscle, and liver. These changes lead to an increase in intracellular fatty acid metabolites, e.g. acyl Co-A and diacylglycerol, in liver and muscle. This in turn may lead to activation of serine kinases, which are capable of phosphorylating serine residues in proteins involved in the insulin receptor signaling pathway, such as insulin receptor substrate (IRS) proteins and phosphoinositol 3-kinase (PI-3K). The serine phosphorylation, in contrast to tyrosine phosphorylation, leads to a decrease in the activity of these proteins and thereby possibly to insulin resistance [136]. One of the consequences of decreased activity of insulin signaling proteins is diminished translocation of the insulin-dependent glucose transporter Glut4 in skeletal muscle cells [137]. Interestingly, a compromised translocation of Glut2 to the plasma membrane of β -cells in C57BL/6J mice fed a high-fat diet has also been observed [138].

Glycogen synthase activity is reduced by 35 to 50% in patients with Type 2 Diabetes [139]. The allosteric activation of glycogen synthase by glucose-6-phosphate is diminished in these patients. This decreases glycogen production in Type 2 Diabetes patients. The mechanism behind this has not been fully elucidated.

Mitochondria are involved in insulin resistance as well. In lean elderly people with severe insulin resistance in muscle and higher levels of triglycerides in muscle and liver, mitochondrial oxidative activity and ATP synthesis are decreased [140]. In fact, the disturbances in mitochondrial fatty acid metabolism probably lead to increases in intracellular fatty acid metabolites, which may precipate insulin resistance as described above.

Insulin resistance is usually accompanied by an adaptive increase in insulin secretion from the β -cells. This adaptation involves expansion of β -cell mass and maintenance of normal glucose responsiveness of the β -cells. In those obese individuals, which progress to overt Type 2 Diabetes, this adaptive process has failed and may contribute to hyperglycemia [141].

Insulin receptor

The insulin receptor belongs to the family of tyrosine kinase receptors: it is heterotetramerical in structure and consists of two heterodimers. The heterodimer is made up of a 130 kDa α -subunit and a 97 kDa β -subunit, which are connected by covalent disulfide bridges. The heterodimers are joined together by disulfide bridges between the two α -subunits. The dimerization of two heterodimers and the disulphide linkage take place in the endoplasmatic reticulum. The final constellation of the receptor is $\beta\alpha\alpha\beta$ (see Figure 3). The α subunit is extracellular and contains the ligand-binding domain, whereas the β -subunit spans the plasma membrane and is mainly located in the cytoplasm. The β -subunit hosts the tyrosine kinase site, which is autophosphorylated upon ligand binding. The tyrosine kinase domain subsequently phosphorylates tyrosine residues in other signaling molecules recruited to the receptor after ligand binding. The autophosphorylation occurring after ligand binding is mainly a trans-autophosphorylation, *i.e.*, ligand will bind to the α -subunit of heterodimer 1 which then results in the autophosphorylation of the β -subunit of heterodimer 2, although cis-autophosphorylation does occur [142-144]. The activation of the tyrosine kinase of the β -subunit of heterodimer 2 by phosphorylation will then result in phosphorylation of the tyrosine kinase of the β subunit of the first heterodimer. The end result will be activation of tyrosine kinases in both β-subunits of the receptor. This mechanism has been elucidated by elegant studies by Treadway et al. [145].

The ligand binding domain of the insulin receptor is reported to be complex and discontinuous. It is made up by the N-terminus, the cysteine-rich domain and the C-terminus of the α -subunit [146]. Ligand binding to the insulin receptor fits the model of negative cooperativity. This means that when each heterodimer is individually studied *in vitro* by reducing the disulfide bridges between the two α -subunits, one high-affinity binding site can be detected in each. However, when two heterodimers form the typical heterotetrameric structure of the insulin receptor, only one high-affinity binding site remains and the affinity of the other binding site decreases considerably. The binding curves on a Scatchard plot are curvilinear which is consistent with the model of negative cooperativity [147]. This model has been confirmed [148], and it was proposed that the association of the α -subunits resulted in a physical proximity of the two potential binding sites which is a requirement for high-affinity insulin binding. The insulin receptor can bind IGF-I although the affinity for IGF-I is 100 to 1000 times lower than for insulin.

The insulin receptor exists in two isoforms. Insulin receptor A does not contain the 36 base pairs of exon 11 encoding the last 12 amino acids of the α -subunit. Insulin receptor isoform B contains these 12 amino acids of exon 11. The alternative splicing of exon 11 appears to be modulated by sequences in intron 10 [149]. The relative abundance of the two isoforms in different cell types and tissues varies and is subject to regulation by factors which are tissue-specific, developmental, and hormonal [150, 151]. Brown pre-adipocytes, HepG2 hepatoblastoma cells, hematopoietic and neuronal cells express only isoform A; placental, kidney, adipose tissue and skeletal muscle express both

forms whereas adult liver, many fetal tissues and cancer cells contain predominantly isoform B [152-154]. Rat pancreas has been shown to contain mainly isoform A [155], whereas rat and mouse pancreatic β -cells have been reported to contain both isoforms [156]. Human islets express both isoforms of the insulin receptor in a ratio of 40% isoform A to 60% isoform B [157], the level of isoform B increased to 80% upon exposure to hyperglycemia for 5 days. Isoform A reportedly is coupled to transcription of the insulin gene, whereas isoform B stimulates that of glucokinase in β -cells [158].

The presence or absence of exon 11 has consequences for the ligand binding affinity of the receptor. Insulin receptor A is reported to bind IGF-II with high affinity [153], whereas insulin receptor B has a higher affinity for insulin [159]. This difference in the affinity for insulin between the isoforms is also reflected in the decreased sensitivity of isoform B for metabolic actions of insulin [160]. The missing 12 amino acids thus appear very important for the high affinity binding of insulin [146]. However, certain side chains contribute differentially to insulin binding in each isoform so that different molecular mechanisms may be used in order to confer affinity [161]. It has been reported that adipose tissue and skeletal muscle in obese subjects have increased levels of isoform B compared with control subjects [162].



Figure 3. Insulin receptor, IGF-I receptor and insulin/IGF-I hybrid receptor. P is tyrosine phosphorylation site.

Effects of insulin on endothelial cells

In cultured bovine and rabbit microvascular endothelial cells, insulin (at 1-10 nM concentrations), stimulates glucose transport, amino acid transport, glucose oxidation, and DNA synthesis (reviewed in [163]). Insulin does not exert these effects in cultured macrovascular endothelial cells [163]. The hormone

has been reported to affect hemodynamically active substances. Insulin, infused at 0.78 nmol per kg bodyweight, appears to stimulate release of both the vasoconstrictor endothelin-1 and the vasodilator NO but results in no significant hemodynamic effect in human forearm venous circulation [164]. In human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) and bovine aortic endothelial cells, supraphysiological concentrations (1-10 µM) of insulin stimulated NO production [165, 166]. High insulin concentrations (0.08 to 4 nM), such as those in hyperinsulinemia, exacerbate neutrophile adhesion to endothelial cells [167]. These concentrations stimulate endothelial intercellular adhesion molecule-1 expression through activation of protein kinase C (PKC) and mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK), making the vascular wall more prone to atherosclerotic development [167]. Early growth response gene is a key transcription factor involved in vascular pathophysiology. In murine glomerular vascular endothelial cells, insulin increases expression of this transcription factor through activation of ERK1/2 activation [168]. Insulin exerts anti-apoptotic effects on endothelial cells via phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI-3K) and protein kinase B (PKB) downstream [169]. However, the insulin concentrations used in these studies were high, 100 nM, and an effect of insulin on the IGF-I receptor cannot be excluded.

Ligand binding studies have identified the presence of insulin receptors on human umbilical vein and arterial endothelial cells [170, 171]. HUVEC contain insulin receptor protein, which reportedly can be phosphorylated by stimulation with the relatively high concentration of 100 nM insulin [172].

IGF-I, the IGF-I receptor, and hybrid receptors

Insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I)

IGF-I is a protein consisting of 70 amino acids and a molecular weight of 7650 Dalton [173]. IGF-I is mainly produced by hepatocytes in response to stimulation of growth hormone receptors [174]. Growth hormone also stimulates IGF-I expression in pancreas, muscle, intestine, kidney, brain, and adipose tissue [175]; expression of IGF-I can also be induced by other factors. IGF-I is subsequently secreted into the circulation. Peripheral tissues can also produce IGF-I, which then acts in an autocrine and paracrine fashion. Circulating IGF-I levels are high during fetal growth, decrease postnatally, and increase again in puberty, after which they decline throughout adult life [174]. Free and potentially active IGF-I accounts for less than 1% of the circulating IGF-I. IGF-I in the circulation is mainly transported in a complex with IGF-I binding protein (IGFBP) 3 and a carrier protein, acid-labile subunit. IGFBP-3 is one of six human IGFBPs, all of which increase the half-life of IGF-I and regulate its biological activity [176]. The IGFBPs are expressed differentially in different tissues. Previous studies have identified mRNA for IGFBP 2 to 6 in bovine aortic endothelial cells [177, 178]. In pulmonary artery endothelial cells, mRNA for the IGFBPs 3, 4 and 6 was identified [177]. IGFBPs can be proteolytically cleaved, releasing IGF-I [179].

IGFI is a fetal and postnatal somatic growth factor. It has been proposed that the endocrine component of IGF-I-stimulated growth is dependent on growth hormone whereas the autocrine/paracrine component is independent of growth hormone [180]. IGF-I can stimulate DNA, RNA and protein synthesis. It can protect cells from apoptosis; it is involved in cellular differentiation [181]; and it is important for the maintenance of normal cardiovascular structure and function during adult life [182, 183]. Systemic increases in IGF-I concentrations have been found to increase insulin sensitivity [184].

IGF-I is also critical for normal vascular development in the retina [185]. IGF-I increases NO production and thereby stimulates vasodilation in HUVEC [165, 172]. It was found to stimulate ERK 1/2 and ERK 5 phosphorylation in porcine aortic endothelial cells [186]. ERK5 is involved in the response to oxidative stress and shear stress. IGF-I also stimulates phosphorylation of PKB in these cells independent of ERK phosphorylation. Both these pathways lead to activation of NF- κ B, which is involved in apoptosis and the inflammatory response. The activation of the PKB pathway is necessary for migration of porcine aortic endothelial cells, whereas the ERK pathway is not [186]. In contrast to insulin, IGF-I stimulates the synthesis of sulphated proteoglycans that are critical components of vascular basement membranes in both microvascular and macrovascular endothelial cells [163, 187].

As reviewed by Juul [174], IGF-I levels are decreased in liver disease and growth hormone deficiency. Similarly, IGF-I levels are low in Type 1 Diabetes and insulin-treated Type 2 Diabetes [188, 189]. In Type 1 Diabetes, the IGF system is abnormal even if glycemic control is normal or near normal [190]. This indicates that portal delivery of insulin is necessary to normalize the IGF levels. Low IGF-I levels are associated with increased risk of coronary artery disease [191] and chronic heart failure [192]. Decreased circulating levels of IGF-I account for poor prognosis in patients with manifest coronary artery disease [193]. Also, high IGF-I binding protein 3 levels in the circulation increase the risk of developing ischemic heart disease [191]. In obesity, free IGF-I levels are elevated. Increased levels of IGF-I have been reported to be associated with the pathogenesis of diabetic retinopathy [194].

IGF-I receptor

The IGF-I receptor is part of the same family of tyrosine kinase receptors to which the insulin receptor belongs [195]. The overall amino acid sequence homology exceeds 50%, reaching 84% in certain well-conserved areas. The IGF-I receptor is also heterotetramerical in structure; it exhibits the same $\beta\alpha\alpha\beta$ -subunit structure as the insulin receptor (Figure 3). The activation of the α -subunit of the receptor also elicits trans-autophosphorylation of the opposite tyrosine kinase-containing β -subunit, followed by phosphorylation of the other β -subunit.

The IGF-I receptor binding domains supposedly are not as complex as those of the insulin receptor. The primary determinants of the IGF-I binding region are considered the cysteine-rich domain of the IGF-I holoreceptors and the C-terminal region [146]. Reduction of the disulfide bridges between the α subunits results in two heterodimers with lower affinities for IGF-I than the one high-affinity binding site that the heterotetrameric IGF-I receptor displayed. The association of two heterodimers appears to result in one highaffinity binding site. The remaining IGF-I binding site has a lower affinity for IGF-I [196]. Affinity to bind insulin is approximately 100 to 1000 times lower than that for IGF-I. IGF-I receptor mRNA has been detected in human retinal endothelial cells [197]. In human glomerular endothelial cells, ligand-binding studies indicate the presence of IGF-I receptors [198].

Insulin/IGF-I hybrid receptors

The large degree of homology between insulin receptor and IGF-I receptor and the co-occurrence of the receptors in many cells are prerequisites for the formation of hybrid receptors. These hybrid receptors consist of one $\alpha\beta$ heterodimer of the insulin receptor and one $\alpha\beta$ heterodimer of the IGF-I receptor [199, 200] (Figure 3). Insulin/IGF-I hybrid receptors are present in a significant number of cell types and tissues. Thirty-six to 55% of total type 1 IGF-I receptors are reported to be hybrid receptors in a variety of human tissues, such as placenta, skeletal muscle, erythrocytes, leukocytes, and fibroblasts [201]. The proportion of total insulin receptors that were part of hybrids varied from 37 to 42% in placenta, skeletal muscle, erythrocytes, leukocytes, and fibroblasts with the exception of human adipose tissue, which only had 17% hybrid receptors. Another study has reported slightly higher proportions of hybrid receptors of total IGF-I receptors for placenta and skeletal muscle, 72 to 74% respectively [202]. The proportions of hybrid receptor of total IGF-I receptor in human heart, kidney, fat, and spleen reportedly vary from 53 to 87% [202]. The percentage of hybrid receptors expressed by a cell appears to be a function of the number of insulin receptors and IGF-I receptors [144]. It has been proposed that hybrid receptor formation is the result of random assembly of insulin receptor heterodimers and IGF-I receptor heterodimers [203]. A high proportion of hybrid receptors would therefore result from a large excess of one of the two receptors. Since insulin is known to regulate the expression of its own receptor [204], hybrid receptor formation could be affected by changes in the levels of insulin, e.g., in insulin resistant states and obesity. In fact, this phenomenon has been described with an increase in the number of hybrid receptors in adipose tissue from patients with Type 2 Diabetes. This was coupled to impaired insulin sensitivity of the tissue in vivo and a decrease of insulin binding affinity in vitro [205].

Hybrid receptors behave more like IGF-I receptors than insulin receptors, e.g., IGF-I has a greater ability to stimulate autophosphorylation than insulin. Also, hormone internalization and degradation by the hybrid receptor resembles more that of the IGF-1 receptor [144, 203, 206, 207]. Insulin cannot effectively displace bound IGF-I because of allosteric hindrance to insulin binding [143]. Hybrid receptors act differently when insulin receptor isoform A is involved than when isoform B is part of the hybrid. A hybrid receptor containing isoform A has been found to bind IGF-I, IGF-II, and insulin, whereas one containing isoform B predominantly binds IGF-I, binds IGF-II with low affinity and does not bind significantly to insulin [208]. Hybrid receptors made up of insulin receptor A and IGF-I receptor will therefore result in upregulation of IGF-I signaling since IGF-I signaling is also enhanced after stimulation with insulin. Hybrids consisting of IGF-I receptor and insulin receptor B will only respond to IGF-I. This activation pattern holds true for receptor phosphorylation but is also evident in cell proliferation and migration [208]. The presence of hybrid receptors on endothelial cells has not been studied.

Cellular signaling

The insulin receptor is thought to be a more effective transducer of metabolic signaling, whereas the IGF-I receptor preferably transduces mitogenic signals. However, both receptors seem to activate similar signaling molecules, such as insulin receptor substrate (IRS) proteins, PI-3K, MAPK and PKB [124]. The

MAPK-ERK pathway stimulates cell proliferation and migration and also involves Ras, Raf-1 and MEK [209, 210]. In insulin resistance and Type 2 Diabetes, stimulation of insulin receptor with insulin yields a blunted response of the PI-3K pathway but not of the MAPK pathway, which could contribute to atherosclerosis [211]. It is not yet clear how insulin and IGF-I activate the second messengers in such a way that they elicit differential effects. One study proposed that the different isoforms of the insulin receptor in pancreatic β cells conveyed different functions in the cell and that was the result of different localization in the plasma membrane of the two isoforms [156].

A certain number of insulin receptors is required for differentiation of pre-adipocytes since overexpression of insulin receptors inhibits this process. In contrast, IGF-I receptor expression is not required for pre-adipocyte differentiation [154]. In this study of pre-adipocytes, IGF-I and insulin sometimes utilized only their cognate receptor *i.e.*, insulin uses insulin receptor to stimulate IRS-1 and PKB, whereas for activation of other signals, both receptors could be used. However, insulin receptor and IGF-I receptor-mediated signaling are not functionally redundant in pre-adipocytes. It appears that the ratio of IGF-I receptors to insulin receptors is more important for signaling than the total receptor number. Similarly, a limited ability of receptor compensation is apparent in murine knock-out models, where alternately the insulin receptor or the IGF-I receptor has been targeted [180]. Alternative or perhaps additional explanations for the specificity of the response are the differential phosphorylation of some substrates in response to insulin or IGF-I or the recruitment of specific substrates to the receptor, i.e., IRS-1 to IGF-I receptor versus IRS-2 to the insulin receptor [212]. In human endothelial cells, the PI-3K/PKB pathway affects NO production after stimulation with insulin and IGF-I [165, 172].

Aim

The overall aim of this thesis is to study pathophysiological mechanisms in different aspects of Type 2 Diabetes. To fulfill this aim, the following sub-aims were pursued:

- To study voltage-gated calcium channels implicated in glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in INS-1 832/13 and INS-1 832/2 β -cells (Paper I)
- To study β -cell adaptation to insulin resistance induced by high-fat feeding of C57BL/6J mice (Paper II)
- To study glucose tolerance in RIP2-Cre mice, which are used for β-cell specific gene targeting (Paper III)
- To study the expression of the insulin receptor, IGF-I receptor and insulin/IGF-I hybrid receptor in human endothelial cells of different origin (Paper IV and V)

Models and Methods

Models

Cell models (Paper I, IV, V)

Rat INS-1 832/13 and 832/2 pancreatic β -cells were used for the study of the relative importance of different voltage-gated calcium channels (Paper I). These cells are derived from the INS-1 β -cell line [213]. INS-1 cells were originally isolated from a radiation-induced insulinoma, and respond with a 2- to 4-fold increase in insulin secretion after stimulation with glucose in the physiological range. Since INS-1 cells derive from a tumor, the initial clonal cell population becomes heterogeneous with time. This process negatively affects the robustness of glucose-stimulated insulin secretion. In order to identify subpopulations of cells with a stronger secretory response, INS-1 cells were stably transfected with a plasmid containing cDNA for human insulin and a neomycin resistance cassette [214]. The resultant discrete clones were subsequently analyzed for glucose-stimulated insulin secretion. The secretory response of 832/13 cells was 8- to 11-fold, whereas 832/2 cells hardly responded to glucose at all. Moreover, the amplifying pathway is present in 832/13 cells and these cells therefore serve as a model for a normal β -cell. On the other hand, 832/2 cells can be used as a model for defective β -cells.

Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) were used to study insulin receptors, IGF-I receptors and hybrid receptors in human endothelial cells (Paper IV), as were human coronary artery endothelial cells (HCAEC) (Paper V). These cells correspond to two different types of endothelial cells, one stemming from the venous circulation and the other one from the arterial circulation. HUVEC were obtained from umbilical cords as primary cells, and only kept in culture for 1 to 2 passages. HCAEC, which were obtained from Clonetics (San Diego, CA), were kept for up to 8 passages. Morphologically, both endothelium-derived cell types were identified as endothelial cells.

Animal models (Paper II, III)

As a model for insulin resistance, female C57BL/6J mice fed a high fat diet were used (Paper II). 60% of the calories in the diet were obtained from fat versus 10% in the control diet. The mice develop insulin resistance [215] and insufficient islet compensation [216] but do not develop frank Diabetes Mellitus. Instead they remain insulin resistant and glucose intolerant with compensatory hyperinsulinemia [217].

Rat insulin promoter 2-Cre recombinase (RIP2-Cre) mice were used for studies of glucose tolerance (Paper III). RIP2-Cre mice were originally created on a C57BL/6xDBA/2 genetic background; they are transgenic mice expressing the bacterial recombinase Cre driven by a 706 basepair fragment of the RIP2 [218]. The RIP-Cre mouse exhibits high expression levels of Cre in pancreatic β -cells [219], and low expression levels in the hypothalamus. The RIP2-Cre mice used in this study were bred onto a C57BL/6J genetic background by backcrossing for 14 generations, generating a near 100% pure C57BL/6J background.

Methods

RNA interference (Paper I)

RNA interference (RNAi) is a process whereby double-stranded RNA inhibits the expression of genes with a complementary nucleotide sequence through DNA/histone methylation, RNA degradation or translational blocking. It was first discovered in nematodes [220] but was later found to operate in most eukaryotic organisms [221, 222]. It was subsequently found that RNAi is executed by 21-23 nucleotide long double-stranded RNA molecules with a 3'-two nucleotide overhang on each strand [223]. The pathway probably serves as a form of innate immunity against viruses but may also play a role in regulation of development and genome maintenance. Scientists now use this naturally occurring process in the cell as an experimental tool in their studies.

The synthetic double-stranded short interfering RNA (siRNA) used in Paper I, were transfected into the cell, using a lipid-based transfection reagent. The siRNAs are supplied with a 3'-two nucleotide overhang on each strand, which resembles the structure of naturally occurring siRNA produced by Dicer, an RNase III enzyme, which constitutes the first step of RNAi. In the cell, the strands undergo strand separation. The siRNA strands bind to RNAinduced silencing complex (RISC), a multiprotein complex, where one strand, the antisense strand, guides the RISC complex to the target mRNA leading to mRNA degradation by nucleases (Figure 4).



Figure 4. RNA interference. Double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) is cut into 21 nucleotide short interfering RNA (siRNA) by Dicer. This binds to the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) and the RISC complex, which is guided to the target messenger RNA (mRNA) resulting in its degradation. Figure is adapted from [224].

siRNA efficacy is influenced by two important factors. The first determinant is the transfection efficiency, which varies from cell to cell. INS-1 832/13 cells are normally difficult to transfect with plasmids, using standard techniques such as electroporation or lipofection. However, since siRNA molecules are small, the transfection efficiency is remarkably higher than that of large DNA plasmids. Addition of a fluorescent marker to the siRNA and analysis of the cells post-transfection under a fluorescent microscope allows determination of transfection efficiency. Drawbacks to this are uncertainties with regard to the amount of fluorescent siRNA molecules needed to generate a signal, the exact localization of the fluorescent signal and whether an intracellular localization of the fluorescent signal reflects an activation of the RISC complex. The second determinant is the effectiveness of down-regulation achieved by the siRNA. This is determined by the location in the mRNA transcript of the sequence to which the siRNA will bind. However, clever algorithms for the design of siRNAs exist and their precision has improved continually, subsequently increasing the efficiency of gene silencing, e.g., mRNA degradation. In fact, downregulation by 95% of the mRNA level is possible to achieve. Analysis of the relative quantity of mRNA of the target sequence is therefore a crucial step in determining the efficacy of siRNA.

The concentration of siRNA added is an important factor. High concentrations of siRNA have been reported to cause off-target effects and saturation of the siRNA machinery [225]. These are defined as effects caused by unspecific binding of siRNAs. Indeed, as few as 11 matching nucleotides have been shown to be sufficient to silence non-target mRNAs [226]. Furthermore, binding to the 3'-UTR has been identified as one pathway to elicit off-target effects [227]. An optimal siRNA length of 21 nucleotides was determined to give rise to the least off-target effects [226], and this is the length of the siRNAs used in our study (Paper I).

Fluorescent measurements of intracellular Ca²⁺ concentrations (Paper I)

Fluorescence is a luminescence in which the molecular absorption of a photon in a fluorophore triggers the emission of another photon with a longer wavelength from the same fluorophore. Fluorescence can be used to study rapid changes in concentrations of ions. Fura-2 is a fluorophore, which can be used to measure changes in intracellular free $Ca^{2+}[Ca^{2+}]_i$). Upon binding Ca^{2+} , fura-2 exhibits an absorption shift that can be observed by scanning the excitation spectrum between 300 and 400 nm, while monitoring the emission at ~510 nm. Indicators that show an excitation or emission spectral shift upon ion binding can be calibrated using a ratio of the fluorescence intensities measured at two different wavelengths. This results in the cancellation of artifactual variations in the fluorescence signal, such as photobleaching, leakage of the indicator, non-uniform indicator distribution, that might otherwise be misinterpreted as changes in ion concentration.

In Paper I, Fura-2 acetoxymethyl (AM) was used. Fura-2 AM is a cellpermeant uncharged Ca²⁺ indicator that can be loaded passively into cells. Intracellularly, the AM group is cleaved off and this results in a charged form of Fura-2, which is cell-impermeant. The cells were held in a perfusion chamber and a mercury lamp was used to excite light alternately at 350 and 380 nm, the emitted light was collected at 510 nm in a photomultiplier detector. The $[Ca²⁺]_i$ was calculated using equation 5 of Grynkiewicz *et al.* [228] with a K_d of 224 nM.

Patch clamp (Paper I)

The electrophysiological properties of a single cell can be studied with the patch-clamp technique, which was invented in 1978 by Neher et al. [228, 229]. This method can be used to study (i) the recording of currents through the cell membrane, (ii) measurements of membrane potential and (iii) recordings of exocytotic responses that are monitored as increases in cell capacitance. Patch clamp traditionally uses a heat-polished glass pipette with a smooth surfaced open tip, which is filled with pipette solution. This pipette is pressed to the cell membrane forming a tight seal (giga-ohm seal), coupling the cell to an electrical circuit. In the whole-cell configuration, the cell membrane is ruptured by suction at the point where the pipette is patched to the cell. The suction causes an opening in the cell membrane and the cytosolic contents are replaced by the pipette solution. When currents are measured (i), the voltage is clamped and stimulating pulses are applied from a negative resting potential. The opening or closure of an ion channel will lead to variations in the holding current, which can be quantified. However, when the currents are clamped, the voltage (membrane potential, (ii)) can be measured. In measuring exocytotic events (iii), the voltage is clamped by application of a sinusoidal voltage and the changes in the cell surface area are monitored as increases in cell capacitance. Fusion of a secretory granule will temporarily increase the cell surface area. Both current and cell capacitance measurements were used in Paper I.

Metabolic assays (Paper I, II, and III)

The studies performed with the focus on pancreatic β -cells all use fuelstimulated insulin secretion as an end-point for determining the importance of the mechanisms studied. Insulin secretion assays were conducted with either INS-1 832/13 and 832/2 cells (Paper I) and mouse islets (Paper II, III). Stimulation with glucose or other metabolic fuels was performed for one hour and the insulin accumulated in the medium was measured by radioimmunoassay.

In Paper II, an intravenous glucose tolerance test (IVGTT) was carried out. In an IVGTT, glucose is administered intravenously and subsequent blood samples are taken to determine plasma glucose and insulin levels. This will report the rate of glucose clearance from the circulation. The determination of insulin concentrations allows discrimination of the cause of glucose intolerance: insulin resistance or impaired insulin secretion.

Fuel oxidation experiments were carried out (Paper II). Mouse islets were incubated with different radioactively labeled fuels and the production of radioactively labeled CO_2 was determined. These experiments are used to determine which fuels the islets utilize and whether high-fat diet changes the fuel use.

Receptor identification (Paper IV and V)

In the study of receptors, both the presence of mRNA and protein were determined. Determining the presence of mRNA and protein cannot identify the insulin/IGF-I hybrid receptor, because the receptor consists of one half of each receptor. However, by immunoprecipitating the cell lysate with an antibody specific for insulin receptor, one isolates both the insulin receptor and the insulin/IGF-I hybrid receptor. The subunits subsequently get separated in the denaturating conditions of the SDS-PAGE and the individual subunits can be identified on immunoblot. The same process can be used to isolate IGF-I receptor and hybrid receptor. The use of different (monoclonal) antibodies in the immunoprecipitation and the immunoblotting increases the specificity of the process.

Another way to discern the presence of receptors is by performing substrate-binding studies. These are performed by incubation of cells with radioactively labeled substrate at a constant concentration and unlabeled substrate at different concentrations. Homologous insulin receptors will show a lower IC_{50} value, *i.e.*, the concentration needed to give half-maximal displacement of the radioactively labeled substrate, for insulin than for IGF-I. The same holds true for homologous IGF-I receptors. Hybrid receptors cannot be identified this way although comparing IC_{50} values for both substrates with each radioactively labeled substrate can be used to derive an indication for their presence. If the IC_{50} values are closer together, part of the binding might be explained by binding to hybrid receptors whereas if the IC_{50} values are far apart, homologous receptors are present to a greater degree.

The identification of the receptor protein in cell lysate is not a measure of the activity of the receptor. Short-duration receptor stimulation by different concentrations of insulin or IGF-I and subsequent immunoprecipitation of the receptor followed by immunoblot with antibody for tyrosine phosphorylation, is a way to show the functionality of the receptor.

Results

The role of $Ca_v 1.2$ in insulin secretion from INS-I 832/13 cells (Paper I)

An aim of this study was to determine which calcium channel is critical for glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in 832/13 cells and whether the 832/13 clone differed from the 832/2 clone in the expression of voltage-gated calcium channels. A potential difference in voltage-gated calcium channels could be one of the explanations for the disparity in the extent of glucose-stimulated insulin secretion between these two cell clones [214].

mRNA expression levels for Ca_v1.2, Ca_v1.3 and Ca_v2.3 did not differ between 832/13 and 832/2 cells. However, the expression levels for Ca_v1.2 were two orders of magnitude higher than those of $Ca_v 1.3$ and $Ca_v 2.3$, which were similar. Glucose-stimulated insulin secretion was very different in 832/13 cells versus 832/2 cells: the fold response of 832/13 cells was 16-fold, whereas it was virtually absent in 832/2 cells. Stimulation of both clones with high 35 mM KCl, bypassing the metabolic closure of K_{ATP}-channels, resulted in stimulation of insulin secretion although the extent of the increase was more pronounced in 832/13 cells. Dihydropyridines such as isradipine can be used to block calcium currents through $Ca_v 1.2$ and $Ca_v 1.3$. Co-incubation of isradipine and 16.7 mM glucose decreased insulin secretion to basal levels in 832/13 cells, whereas it had no significant effect on insulin secretion from 832/2 cells. Insulin secretion stimulated by high K⁺ and diazoxide could also be inhibited by isradipine in both 832/13 and 832/2 cells. Currents through Ca_v2.3 can be inhibited by the peptide SNX-482. There was no significant effect of SNX-482 on insulin secretion in either cell clone studied.

 $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ was studied in these cells under the same conditions with fluorescent measurements of the calcium fluorophore Fura-2 AM. Elevated glucose (15 mM) increased in calcium influx into 832/13 cells and the frequency of calcium spikes in these cells. 832/2 cells did not show any increase in calcium spikes and $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ was not significantly raised. Isradipine brought the frequency of calcium spikes in 832/13 cells back to the basal level and inhibited an increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ whereas it did not affect $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in 832/2 cells. However, the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ increased to the same extent in 832/13 and 832/2 cells in response to 35 mM KCl, indicating the presence of functional voltage-gated calcium channels in 832/2 cells. SNX-482 did not affect $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in either cell clone.

Since isradipine inhibits both $Ca_v 1.2$ and $Ca_v 1.3$, and the expression levels of $Ca_v 1.2$ and $Ca_v 1.3$ were so discordant, we used siRNA against $Ca_v 1.2$ to determine the significance of this calcium channel for insulin secretion in 832/13 cells. The transfection efficiency of the siRNA was determined by transfection of negative control siRNA coupled to the fluorescent marker Alexa-488 and was approximately 75%. $Ca_v 1.2$ mRNA expression levels were decreased by 65% while $Ca_v 1.3$ and $Ca_v 2.3$ mRNA levels were not affected by transfection of $Ca_v 1.2$ siRNA. Glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in siRNAtreated cells was decreased by approximately 50% and could be further reduced by addition of isradipine. Calcium currents in siRNA-treated cells were studied with patch clamp in the standard whole-cell configuration. The maximal peak-current was reduced by 60% in siRNA treated-cells whereas the Na⁺current was not affected. The effect of $Ca_v 1.2$ siRNA on exocytosis was also studied. Exocytosis was evoked by a train of ten 500-ms depolarizations from - 70 mV to 0 mV and was found to be decreased by 50% in $\rm Ca_v 1.2\ siRNA$ -treated cells.

β -cell adaptation to insulin resistance in a mouse high-fat diet model (Paper II)

C57BL/6J mice, a model for insulin resistance when kept on a high-fat diet, were fed a high-fat (HF) diet consisting of 60% fat, 20% protein and 20% carbohydrates or control diet with 20% protein, 70% carbohydrates and 10% fat for 12 weeks. After 5 weeks on the HF diet, plasma insulin levels were already dramatically increased and continued to rise. However, plasma glucose levels were not significantly elevated at any point indicating compensated insulin resistance in HF mice. Ten weeks into the HF diet, an IVGTT showed retarded glucose clearance in HF mice, with basal hyperinsulinemia and greater amounts of insulin secreted during the IVGTT, again indicating compensated insulin resistance and glucose intolerance in this mouse model.

Islets from HF mice had increased basal insulin secretion and only a slight increase in insulin secretion in response to 15 mM glucose. When stimulated with high K⁺ and diazoxide (K_{ATP}-independent condition), HF islets secreted more insulin than control islets. However, HF islets did not increase their secretory response further after addition of glucose to high K⁺ and diazoxide in contrast to control islets, indicating a loss of the amplifying pathway. Insulin secretion was also enhanced after stimulation with palmitate and high glucose in HF islets versus control islets although there was no difference at basal glucose concentrations. In contrast, under KATP-independent conditions supplemented with palmitate, HF islets exhibited a large increase in insulin secretion compared to control islets. This disparity remained after addition of high glucose although the difference in insulin secretion between HF and control islets was less than at basal glucose concentrations. Other secretagogues, such as BCH (a non-metabolizable form of leucine which stimulates glutamate dehydrogenase) stimulated insulin secretion in HF islets significantly more at basal glucose concentrations than in control islets. BCH in combination with glutamine also stimulated insulin secretion more strongly in HF islets than in controls. This also held true for methylsuccinate, which may cause insulin secretion via an anaplerotic pathway, and α -ketoisocaproic acid, which can be oxidized in the mitochondria and form acetyl-CoA but also be transaminated to leucine, an allosteric activator of glutamate dehydrogenase. Glutamine alone caused vigorous insulin secretion from HF islets under KATP dependent conditions. Dimethyl-glutamate elicited an increase in insulin secretion in HF islets at high glucose concentrations that was twice that of control islets. In short, HF islets have an exaggerated secretory response to mitochondrial fuels. Fuel oxidation was also affected in HF mice: glucose oxidation in response to high glucose was decreased, whereas oxidation of palmitate and glutamine were increased at basal glucose concentrations.

The decrease in glucose oxidation but not in mitochondrial fuel oxidation led us to examine Glut2 localization and mRNA expression levels. The mRNA levels for Glut2 were not different in HF and control islets but Glut2 immunofluorescence, however, in HF β -cells was diffuse or decreased compared to control β -cells, which displayed Glut2 immunofluorescence at the plasma membrane. Lipid droplets were also present in the β -cells of HF mice but were not observed in control mice. Ultrastructural studies showed an increase in mass, but not in number, of mitochondria, in HF mice *versus* control mice. We attempted to elucidate the factors involved in mitochondrial biogenesis in our model; the transcription factors peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor γ coactivator 1 α (PGC-1 α), PGC-1 β , nuclear respiratory factor-1 (NRF1), mitochondrial transcription factor A (TFAM), and the nuclearencoded mitochondrial protein cytochrome C and the mitochondria-encoded mitochondrial protein cytochrome c oxidase IV (COXIV) mRNA levels were determined. PGC-1 is thought to act in concert with other transcription factors and thereby stimulate the transcription of a number of genes such as *tfam*. However, we could not determine significant differences in mRNA expression levels of any of these factors after 12 weeks of HF feeding. Previously, high-fat diet has been demonstrated to decrease genes for oxidative phosporylation proteins in skeletal muscle in the same mouse model, although mtDNA copy number was not altered [230]. A significant decrease in PGC-1 α and PGC-1 β but not NRF1 or 2 mRNA expression was reported after 3 weeks of HF feeding. Since we determined mRNA expression levels after 12 weeks, we hypothesized that the increase in mRNA levels occurred at an earlier time-point of HF feeding. However, expression levels for the genes studied did not differ between HF islets and control islets at 2, 6, or 8 weeks. The increase in β -cell mitochondrial mass could be due to increased mRNA levels of other transcription factors as well as changes in mRNA translation into protein or increased protein stability.

Glucose tolerance in RIP2 C57BL/6J mice (Paper III)

In this study, we compared glucose tolerance in female RIP2-Cre heterozygote mice, which originally came from the laboratory of Professor Mark A Magnuson. Since 2002, the mice were backcrossed in our laboratory for 14 generations onto a C57BL/6J background, yielding a 99.9% C57BL/6J background. C57BL/6J mice were obtained from the Taconic facility, which attained these mice in 1991 from the NIH Animal Genetic Resource and has since inbred these mice. C57BL/6J littermate mice served as wild-type (WT) control mice.

At 12 weeks, fasted plasma glucose and insulin levels were similar in RIP2-Cre and WT mice. Glucose clearance and insulin levels during the IVGTT did not differ either. *In vitro* static incubations with islets isolated from 28 week-old mice with glucose at different concentrations; K_{ATP} -independent conditions with glucose; palmitate; GLP-1; carbacholine; and α -ketoisocaproic acid, all provoked a similar secretory response in RIP2-Cre and WT mice. β -cell mass in pancreatic sections of 28-week-old mice was not different in the two genotypes.

Glucose intolerance due to a five-exon deletion, exon 7 to 11, in the *nnt* gene was recently reported in C57BL/6J mice [59]. Nnt protein is completely lost in the mice displaying this deletion. The glucose intolerance may arise as a result of impaired insulin secretion due to the absence of Nnt, and develops spontaneously. We therefore examined the *nnt* gene in our RIP2-Cre and WT mice on the C57BL/6J background. However, both exon 8 and exon 11 were found to be present, indicating that the five-exon deletion was not present in C57BL/6J mice from the Taconic facility.

Insulin receptors and IGF-I receptors in human endothelial cells (Paper IV and V)

Papers IV and V focus on insulin receptor, IGF-I receptor, and insulin/IGF-I hybrid receptor in human endothelial cells. Both endothelial cell types studied show similar patterns in the expression and ligand binding of the receptors.

IGF-I receptor mRNA levels were higher than those of insulin receptor in human endothelial cells, with HCAEC showing a more pronounced difference in the mRNA expression levels than HUVEC. HUVEC IGF-I mRNA levels exhibited a tendency to decrease during culture although this difference was not statistically significant.

In binding studies, the affinity of the receptors for the ligands was determined and through ligand binding an indication for protein levels of the respective receptors could be obtained. Insulin and IGF-I were the ligands used, with the addition of the insulin analogue glargine for HCAEC. The specific binding of radiolabeled IGF-I was higher than for radiolabeled insulin indicating that the number of IGF-I receptors was higher than the number of insulin receptors, confirming the data obtained for receptor mRNA levels. Furthermore, comparison of the IC₅₀ values for displacement of ¹²⁵I-IGF-I by IGF-I and insulin revealed that IGF-I was several orders of magnitude more efficient in displacing radiolabeled IGF-I than insulin. Again the difference was more pronounced in HCAEC than in HUVEC. The IC_{50} value for glargine, the insulin analogue, was lower than that for insulin but higher than that of IGF-I. Comparatively, the IC₅₀ values for displacement of ¹²⁵I-insulin by insulin and IGF-I did not differ as much, with insulin only 30-fold more efficient at displacing radiolabeled insulin than IGF-I in HUVEC. In HCAEC, the specific binding of ¹²⁵I-insulin was too low to enable calculation of IC_{50} values.

The β -subunits of insulin receptor and IGF-I receptor are very similar in size, differing only by 2 kDa; insulin receptor β -subunit is 95 kDa and IGF-I receptor β -subunit is 97 kDa in size. Careful separation of immunoprecipitated proteins on Western blot, will lead to the presence of two distinct bands located closely together when hybrid receptors are present. In both endothelial cell types, distinct bands for insulin receptor β -subunit and IGF-I receptor β -subunit could be identified with a variety of monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies. Evidence for hybrid receptors was also found after immunoprecipitation of the insulin receptor and Western blot with an antibody for the IGF-I receptor and *vice versa*.

Activation of the receptor tyrosine kinase was studied thereafter by 10minute stimulations of receptor phosphorylation by different concentrations of ligand in the presence of a tyrosine phosphatase inhibitor. The cell lysate was immunoprecipitated with an antibody against insulin receptor or IGF-I receptor and immunoblotted with an antibody specific for phosphorylated tyrosine kinase. IGF-I elicited IGF-I receptor phosphorylations at concentrations from 0.1 to 10 nM. Stimulation of the insulin receptor with 1 to 10 nM insulin resulted in insulin receptor phosporylation. However, insulin receptor phosphorylation also resulted from stimulation with IGF-I at 1 to 10 nM. The IGF-I receptor could be phosphorylated by insulin at a concentration $\geq 1 \ \mu$ M, a concentration previously shown to be effective in stimulating IGF-I receptor phosphorylation [231].

Discussion

Insulin secretion in INS-1 832/13 cells is to a large extent dependent on dihydropyridine-sensitive voltage-gated calcium channels. Our study indicates that Ca_v1.2 is the main Ca²⁺-channel accounting for glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in these cells. This notion is supported by the mRNA expression levels of $Ca_v 1.2$ in 832/13 cells, which were two orders of magnitude higher than of Ca_v1.3 and Ca_v2.3. Furthermore, RNAi of Ca_v1.2 decreased mRNA expression levels by 65%; concurrently, calcium currents, exocytotic events and glucose-stimulated insulin secretion were reduced by 50%. The remaining $Ca_v 1.2$ expression levels can be explained by the transfection efficiency attained in our experiments, which was 75%, suggesting that 25% of the cells were untransfected and thereby expressed 100% $Ca_v 1.2$ mRNA. Moreover, the knockdown efficiency of the siRNAs used is not 100% and therefore, this also contributes to remaining $Ca_v 1.2$ mRNA expression. The effect on protein levels was not studied but is likely not to exceed the levels of down-regulation of mRNA levels. Ca_v1.2 is also the calcium channel underlying glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in mouse β -cells [88]. In humans, a rare mutation in Ca_v1.2 is associated with a wide variety of symptoms, among which is intermittent hypoglycemia [123], implicating $Ca_v 1.2$ in human insulin secretion as well. In mouse, Ca_y2.3 has been implicated in second-phase insulin secretion [99] but this has not consistently been repeated in rat β -cells [100, 101, 232].

Furthermore, the lack of glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in 832/2 cells does not appear to be due to difference in expression levels, or functionality of voltage-gated calcium channels. Both cell clones expressed similar mRNA expression levels, and K⁺-stimulated insulin secretion in 832/2 cells could be inhibited by isradipine, indicating the presence of functional dihydropyridine-sensitive calcium channels. Therefore, the lack of glucosestimulated insulin secretion in 832/2 is more likely to be due to changes in processes preceding the opening of voltage-gated calcium channels. Indeed, earlier studies have suggested that pyruvate cycling [233] and signaling in the cAMP/protein kinase A pathway [234] are less pronounced in 832/2 cells versus 832/13 cells.

Insulin secretion was increased in our model of insulin resistance: C57BL/6J mice on a HF diet. In fact, disturbances in glucose tolerance and insulin levels can be identified as early as one week after start of the diet [216]. However, the mice do not develop overt Diabetes Mellitus since the β -cells secrete sufficient amounts of insulin to compensate for the insulin resistance. In our study, the β -cells of the HF-fed mice adapted with a shift from glucose oxidation to that of free fatty acids and amino acids. This is in accordance with results of studies in two other animal models of insulin resistance: hypersecretion of insulin in response to α -ketoisocaproic acid in the Brattleboro mouse [235] and increased lipolysis and fatty acid signaling in the Zucker fatty rat [236]. The high amount of lipids in the β -cells of the HF mice might interfere with the glucose transporter Glut2, as has been reported earlier [138], to which impaired oxidation of glucose may be attributed. The adaptation also expresses itself as an increase in mitochondrial mass in the β -cells. Although we could not identify the transcription factors responsible for the increase in mitochondrial mass, changes in mitochondrial mass in β -cells have previously been reported in β -cells from human Type 2 Diabetes patients [237].

Recently, reports on retarded glucose elimination due to impaired insulin secretion in C57BL/6] on a normal diet and RIP2-Cre mice have been published [59, 218]. Spontaneous development of glucose intolerance could affect the conclusions from the HF diet study (Paper II) as well as the results of other studies that use these mouse models. A five-exon deletion in the *nnt* gene was reported to cause glucose intolerance in C57BL/6J mice [59]. The Nnt protein is localized to the inner mitochondrial membrane and is a major generator of NADPH. It couples NADPH production to the production of reactive oxygen species generated by the electron transport chain. The deletion in the gene gives rise to the loss of Nnt protein, which results in the stimulation of the activity of UCP-2 by reactive oxygen species. This leads to increased proton leakage across the inner mitochondrial membrane, which reduces the electronmotive force and thereby ATP synthesis [62]. However, C57BL/6] mice obtained from the Taconic facility used to breed the RIP2-Cre mouse onto, did not display the five-exon deletion. This could explain the lack of glucose intolerance due to impaired insulin secretion in the WT mice used in Paper III. It also validates the results obtained in the HF diet study (Paper II). This indicates once again the difficulty in comparing results from animal models in different laboratories since small differences, with potentially large consequences, might be present even between animals from the "same" mouse strain in different facilities. The RIP2-Cre mouse has been bred on different genetic backgrounds in different laboratories. The RIP2-Cre mouse used in paper III is on a 99.9% C57BL/6J background. The absence of any significant differences in *in vivo* and *in vitro* insulin secretion, and β -cell mass between the RIP2-Cre and WT littermates studied, argues against a major toxic effect of high concentrations of the Cre recombinase itself in β -cells. β -cell mass has also been examined in RIP2-Cre mice in the laboratory of our collaborator Dr Michael Ristow. Interestingly, they find dynamic increases and decreases of β -cell mass over time [238]; at this point, it is not known whether their line of C57BL/6J mice harbors the five-exon deletion in the *nnt* gene.

Insulin exerts its actions via binding to the insulin receptor. If present in very high concentrations, insulin is able to bind to the IGF-I receptor, as shown by in vitro studies [231]. We have studied the presence of insulin receptors, IGF-I receptors and insulin/IGF-I hybrid receptors in human endothelial cells. The endothelium is affected in complications of Diabetes Mellitus both in small and large vessels. An inequality in the number of insulin receptors versus IGF-I receptors is thought to contribute to the expression of hybrid receptors, which have a higher affinity for IGF-I than for insulin and thereby activate signaling pathways associated with the IGF-I receptor, decreasing the effect of insulin. We have several indications of the presence of hybrid receptors in endothelial cells of different origins (Paper IV and V) and that these receptors are activated by IGF-I but not insulin. Hybrid receptors and the higher abundance of IGF-I receptors versus insulin receptors reflect the importance of IGF-I in human endothelial cells. Since IGF-I levels in insulin-treated Type 2 Diabetes are low [174], decreased signaling through the IGF-I receptor and through the hybrid receptor may affect NO production in endothelial cells [165, 172] and contribute to cardiovascular disease. Although IGF-I levels are normal in Type 2 Diabetes patients with good glycemic control, they tend to decrease in patients with poor glycemic control [239]. In cardiovascular disease, IGF-I levels are decreased and it has been suggested that in Type 2 Diabetes patients, decreased IGF-I levels may be a causal factor in the pathogenesis of cardiovascular disease [240].

Summary and Conclusions

In this thesis, we have studied pathophysiological mechanisms in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. The first part of the thesis focused on insulin secretion both in the normal and the insulin resistant state. The focus in the second part was on insulin and IGF-I receptors in human endothelial cells, which are involved in complications of diabetes.

In the rat pancreatic β -cell line INS-1 832/13, the dihydropyridine-sensitive voltage-gated calcium channel Ca_v1.2 is essential for glucose-stimulated insulin secretion. A minor role for Ca_v1.3 cannot be excluded but Ca_v2.3 does not appear to affect insulin secretion in these cells. INS-1 832/2 cells, which have a poor secretory response to glucose, expressed the same calcium channels at similar levels. Therefore, processes preceding the opening of the voltage-gated calcium channels are likely to be responsible for the poor secretory response.

 β -cells in the insulin resistance model of the high-fat diet-fed C57BL/6J mouse adapt by increasing mitochondrial mass and by switching to the use of fuels other than glucose. This adaptation is associated with the increased secretion of insulin leading to hyperinsulinemia and preventing the development of overt diabetes in this mouse model.

Glucose tolerance and insulin secretion in the RIP2-Cre mice are not different from wild type C57BL/6J mice. The strain of C57BL/6J used in our facility was demonstrated to express two of the exons implicated in the five-exon deletion of the *nnt* gene. The mice are thereby not affected by the decrease in insulin secretion associated with this mutation. Furthermore, expression of the Crerecombinase in β -cells in this mouse strain does not affect glucose tolerance.

Human endothelial cells express receptors for insulin, IGF-I and insulin/IGF-I hybrid receptors. IGF-I receptors are expressed to a higher extent, giving rise to the assembly of hybrid receptors. IGF-I activates receptor phosphorylation at lower concentrations than insulin activates its own receptors in these cells. IGF-I appears to be able to activate hybrid receptor phosphorylation as well.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Förekomsten av Diabetes Mellitus (sockersjuka), en grupp sjukdomar som kännetecknas av förhöjda halter av glukos (socker) i blodet, ökar över hela världen. Till år 2025 har antalet människor i världen som lider av diabetes ökat till 300 miljoner. Den största ökningen i antal kommer att äga rum i Asien, framför allt i Indien och Kina. Ungefär 90 % av alla patienter med diabetes har fått diagnosen Typ 2 Diabetes. Typ 2 Diabetes är förknippad med fetma och brist på fysisk aktivitet. De kvarstående 10 % lider av andra former av diabetes, framför allt Typ 1 Diabetes.

I friska individer hålls blodglukoshalten inom väldefinierade gränser. Insulin och glukagon är de hormoner som huvudsakligen upprätthåller denna reglering av blodglukoshalter. Insulinhalterna i blodet ökar när blodglukoshalterna stiger efter födointag. Insulin tillverkas i β-celler som finns i endokrina (hormonfrisättande) öar i bukspottkörteln. Insulinfrisättning är en invecklad process. β -cellerna, som fungerar som ett slags glukossensorer, tar upp glukos från blodet och spjälkar det i en process som ger upphov till energi. Den energi bildas som ATP, vilket är generell energibärare i cellen, i cellernas mitokondrier. Mitokondrier är de enheter i cellerna vars huvuduppgift är att producera energi. ATP transporteras ut från mitokondrierna till cytosolen, en vätska som omgiver de olika delar i cellerna, och detta stänger en ATP-känslig kaliumjonkanal som finns i cellmembranet. Detta medför en förändring i den elektriska spänningen över cellmembranet, som i sin tur öppnar spänningskänsliga kalciumjonkanaler. Kalcium flödar in i cellen och det signalerar till β cellerna att insulin ska frisättas till blodet. Insulin kan binda till insulinreceptorer, ungefär som en nyckel passar i ett lås. Receptorerna sitter på cellmembranet av celler i målvävnader och ger upphov till en signal inuti målcellen. Insulins målvävnader är skelettmuskler, fettväv, och lever. Insulins bindning till receptorer på muskler och fett stimulerar glukosupptag från blodet, och i lever minskas glukosproduktionen. Glukagons huvuduppgift är att motverka insulin. Glukagon frisätts från α -celler, som är systerceller till β -cellerna i de endokrina öarna i bukspottkörteln. När blodglukoshalterna sjunker, signalerar glukagon till levern att öka glukosproduktionen. Frisättning av glukos från intracellulära depåer i muskler stimuleras också av glukagon. Således försäkras tillgång på glukos för kroppens celler mellan måltider.

Typ 2 Diabetes uppstår på grund av två defekter i regleringen av blodglukoshalterna. Den ena är otillräcklig insulinfrisättning från β -cellerna och den andra är en minskad effekt av insulin i målvävnaderna, en process som kallas för insulinresistens. Resultatet av dessa defekter visas i förhöjda blodglukoshalter som i första hand behandlas med diet och ökad motion, därefter med läkemedel som stimulerar insulinfrisättning eller ökar insulinets effektivitet i målvävnaderna, och till slut med insulin. Blodglukoshalterna i Typ 2 Diabetes patienterna ligger ändå ofta över den genomsnittliga i den friska populationen. Denna ökning är en av de orsakerna till utveckling av komplikationerna i diabetes. Dessa består av kardiovaskulära sjukdomar, njurproblem och synfel. Komplikationerna utvecklas långsamt i de flesta patienter, men kardiovaskulära komplikationer är en av de största dödsorsakerna i Typ 2 Diabetes.

I denna avhandling har vi försökt att identifiera mekanismer som bidrar till utvecklingen av Typ 2 Diabetes och till utvecklingen av komplikationer till Typ 2 Diabetes. Det första arbetet fokuserar på de spänningskänsliga kalciumkanalerna, som är viktiga för insulinfrisättning i β -celler från råtta. Det finns olika typer av spänningskänsliga kalciumkanaler och deras betydelse för insulinfrisättning skiljer sig mellan olika djurarter och mellan olika modeller i samma art. I våra β -celler var kalciumkanalen Ca_v1.2 mest väsentlig för glukosstimulerad insulinfrisättning. Vi jämförde dessa β -celler med sådana som inte visar en glukosstimulerad insulinfrisättning och som kan användas som en modell för β -celler i Typ 2 Diabetes. Vi kunde inte hitta skillnader i uttryck av spänningskänsliga kalciumkanaler mellan dessa två celler. Vi misstänker att de skillnaderna i insulinfrisättning beror på processer som föregriper öppningen av de spänningskänsliga kalciumkanaler.

I nästa arbete undersökte vi mekanismer bakom anpassningen av βcellerna vid insulinresistens. Vi använde oss av möss som givits fetkost, där en hög andel av kalorierna kommer från fett, som gjorde mössen insulinresistenta. Vid insulinresistens behövs högre halter av insulin för att upprätthålla en normal blodglukoshalt. Detta medför att β -cellerna måste frisätta mer insulin och när det inte sker uppstår Typ 2 Diabetes. De möss som användes här ökar insulinfrisättning markant och utvecklar alltså ingen diabetes. Vi ville undersöka på vilket sätt β-cellerna i dessa möss genomförde denna omställning. Resultaten visar att β-cellerna började frisätta insulin i respons till andra "bränslen" än glukos som fett och aminosyror (protein). Detta kan vara en följd av de höga fetthalterna i cellerna. Fettet ansamlades i β-cellerna vilket kunde ses som fettdroppar när cellerna studerades närmare med elektronmikroskop. Denna höga fetthalt i cellerna kan påverka glukostransportproteiner så att glukostransport in i celler minskar. β-cellerna i dessa möss som erhållit fetkost hade också en större mitokondrieyta, vilket kan vara kopplad till den ökade insulinfrisättningen.

Den musstam som vi använde i vår fetkostmodell kan spontant utveckla glukos intolerans enligt ny forskning. Glukosintolerans är ett tillstånd där insulinfrisättningen är otillräcklig när glukos tillförs utan att patienten har utvecklad diabetes. Denna glukosintolerans skulle kunna uppstå till följd av en mutation i en gen, vars funktion är inblandad i glukosspjälkning och ATP produktion som behövs för glukosstimulerad insulinfrisättning. Vi undersökte förekomsten av mutationen i de möss som användes i fetkoststudien. Mutationen fanns inte i denna musstam och glukostoleransen var normal i dessa möss. Vi studerade även en relaterad musstam, som ofta används för att studera effekterna av knockout av vissa gener specifikt i β -celler. Om denna mus utvecklar glukosintolerans spontant skulle den inte vara lämplig för att studera effekten av en gen på glukostolerans eller insulinfrisättning. Denna stam hade dock inte den mutationen och var inte heller glukosintolerant.

Slutligen har vi studerat insulins effekter. Insulin utövar sin effekt på målvävnader via inbindning till sin receptor. Insulin receptorn är en medlem av en familj av liknande receptorer. Receptorn för insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) tillhör samma familj. IGF-I receptorn aktiveras oftast av IGF-I, en hormon som liknar insulin. IGF-I har en viktig funktion i tillväxt och utveckling men det spelar även en roll i reglering av blodglukoshalterna. Frisättning av insulin från β -celler i blodet framkallar IGF-I frisättning från levern. IGF-I halterna är påverkade i Diabetes Mellitus. Insulinreceptorn och IGF-I receptorn initierar både unika och överlappande effekter. Båda receptorer är till sin struktur, vilket kan ge upphov till bildning av insulin/IGF-I hybridreceptorer. Hybridreceptorn är framställd ur en halv insulin receptor och en halv IGF-I receptor. Signalen från en hybrid receptor liknar signalen från en IGF-I receptor

tor även om receptorn aktiveras av insulin. Eftersom komplikationer i Diabetes Mellitus ofta är sekundärt till problem i blodkärl ville vi kartlägga om receptorer för insulin och IGF-I finns i humana endotelceller, de celler som utgör det inre lagret av blodkärlsväggen. Antalet IGF-I receptorer var högre än insulin receptorer i dessa celler. Insulin kunde aktivera insulin receptorn och IGF-I kunde stimulera sin receptor. Vi hittade belägg för förekomsten av insulin/IGF-I hybrid receptorer och de verkar bli aktiverade av IGF-I. Dessa fynd antyder att IGF-I spelar en roll i utvecklingen av vaskulära komplikationer i Diabetes Mellitus.

Vi har således studerat olika aspekter av Typ 2 Diabetes, vilka bidrar dock till det stora pusslet som utgör sjukdomen Typ 2 Diabetes.

Popular Scientific Summary

The incidence of Diabetes Mellitus, a family of diseases characterized by high levels of blood glucose, is globally on the rise. The number of people suffering from this disease will increase to 300 million by 2025 with the greatest increase to occur in Asia, mainly India and China. The largest proportion of people with Diabetes Mellitus, around 90%, suffers from Type 2 Diabetes, which is associated with obesity and lack of physical activity. The remainder suffers from the other forms of Diabetes Mellitus with Type 1 Diabetes as the leading cause in this group.

Blood glucose levels are being held within strict limits in healthy individuals. The hormones mainly responsible for this regulation are insulin and glucagon. Insulin levels in the blood rise in response to increases in blood glucose levels after a meal. The cells responsible for the production of insulin are the β -cells, located in islets of endocrine (hormone-releasing) cells in the pancreas. Insulin release is a highly complex process. The β -cells, which function as blood glucose level sensors, need to take up glucose for metabolism, a process that produces energy in the form of the universal cellular energy carrier ATP in the mitochondria. Mitochondria are the energy-producing units in the cell. ATP is then transported to the cytosol, the semi-transparant fluid that makes up the majority of the cell content and which encloses other cell compartments. A rise in the ATP:ADP ratio closes a potassium ion channel, causing a change in the electrical voltage potential that is present over the cell membrane. This change opens calcium channels that react to changes in the voltage potential and calcium enters the cell. The influx of calcium triggers the release of insulin from the β -cell. Insulin can bind to insulin receptors, like a key fits into its lock, on its target tissues in order to generate a signal. The main target tissues of insulin are the liver, skeletal muscle and fat tissue. Skeletal muscle and fat tissue respond to insulin by increasing the uptake of glucose from the blood, and the liver responds by decreasing glucose production. Glucagon is released from α -cells, which are sister cells of the β -cells in the endocrine islets in the pancreas. The actions of glucagon work in the opposite direction of insulin. When blood glucose levels fall, glucagon signals to the liver to increase the production of glucose. In skeletal muscle, glucagon promotes the production of glucose from intracellular glycogen stores, providing fuel to the musculature. These actions of glucagon prevent a dramatic fall in blood glucose levels.

In Type 2 Diabetes, the regulation of blood glucose levels by insulin is affected in two ways: the release of insulin from the β -cells in the pancreatic islets is insufficient and the action of insulin on its target tissues is decreased. The latter process is known as insulin resistance. The loss of regulation manifests itself as high levels of blood glucose and this is usually treated first with diet and exercise but can be supplemented with oral drugs to augment insulin secretion and finally with insulin itself. However, the mean blood glucose levels of patients with Diabetes Mellitus are usually higher compared to healthy individuals. This is one of the causes of the development of diabetic complications such as cardiovascular disease, kidney problems, and eye problems. Complications of Diabetes Mellitus develop successively in most patients; in Type 2 Diabetes cardiovascular complications are a major cause of death.

In this thesis, we have attempted to identify mechanisms that are involved in the development of Type 2 Diabetes as well as in the development of complications of Diabetes Mellitus.

In our first study we investigated the role of voltage-sensitive calcium channels in insulin release in rat β -cells. Different types of voltage-sensitive calcium channels exist and their respective contribution to insulin release differs between different species. We determined that one calcium channel in particular, Ca_v1.2, is required for insulin release in the rat β -cells that we studied. We compared these β -cells to other related rat β -cells, which do no release insulin in response to glucose and therefore are used a model for β -cell dysfunction, and found that this lack in insulin release is not due to changes in the voltage-gated calcium channels. We suspect that the differences in insulin release between these β -cells are due to differences prior to the opening of the calcium channels.

Next, we studied how the insulin-releasing β -cell adapts to insulin resistance. The mice were made insulin resistant by feeding them a diet with a high fat content. In insulin resistance, higher levels of insulin are required for the maintenance of normal blood glucose levels. Thus, the β-cells must release far more insulin than normally and if they fail to do that, Type 2 Diabetes develops. The mice we studied increase the amount of insulin that they release and do not develop Diabetes Mellitus. We investigated which mechanisms the βcells use to release more insulin in these mice, preventing the development of diabetes. We found that the β -cells release insulin in response to other fuels than glucose, such as fat but also amino acids (from protein) and that this possibly could be due to the high amount of fat in the β -cell. Fat was accumulating in the β -cells, which was clearly visible as small lipid droplets, using the electron microscope. We think that the high amount of fat in the β -cells disturbs the glucose transporting proteins. In addition, the β -cells of the mice with the high-fat diet displayed a larger mitochondrial area. This might be necessary for the increase in the amount of insulin that was released in order to maintain the blood glucose levels within the boundaries.

The mice strain that we used in the high fat diet study was recently reported to spontaneously develop glucose intolerance, that is, they fail to produce sufficient insulin in response to glucose in a test situation. This glucose intolerance was found to be due to a mutation in a gene involved in the breakdown of glucose and the creation of energy, which signals for the release of insulin. We investigated whether the mice that we used also harbored this mutation but we found that this was not the case. We were unable to detect changes in glucose tolerance in our mice either. We went on to study a related mouse strain, one frequently used in studies of β -cell specific knockout of genes, for the presence of glucose intolerance. Since these mice often are used to study diabetes-related processes, spontaneous glucose intolerance would negatively affect the conclusions drawn from the knockout of specific genes. However, also this mouse strain was not spontaneously glucose intolerant either.

Finally, we studied insulin action. As mentioned above, insulin exerts its effects on target tissues by binding to the receptor. The insulin receptor is part of a family of related receptors. One member of this family is the insulinlike growth factor-I (IGF-I) receptor. This receptor usually binds IGF-I, which is a hormone that resembles insulin and that is important in growth and development but it also plays a role in control of blood glucose levels. The release of insulin from the β -cell causes the release of IGF-I from the liver where it is produced. IGF-I levels are also disturbed in Diabetes Mellitus. The insulin receptor and the IGF-I receptor have distinct but also overlapping functions. The receptors are very similar in their appearance and hybrid receptors have been found that consist of one half of an insulin receptor and one half of an IGF-I receptor. These hybrid receptors signal to the cell as IGF-I receptors even when the binding of insulin activates them. Since complications of Diabetes Mellitus often result from blood vessel-related problems, we wanted to explore the presence of receptors for insulin but also for IGF-I in human blood vessel cells. We have found that insulin receptors and IGF-I receptors are present on the wall of human blood vessels. IGF-I receptors were found to be more numerous than insulin receptors. These receptors can be activated by their respective ligand (or key) and then send a signal further into the cell. We also have indications of the presence of hybrid receptors, which appear to be activated by IGF-I. This finding indicates the importance of IGF-I in the development of vascular complications in Diabetes Mellitus.

In conclusion, we have studied different aspects of Type 2 Diabetes. None of the findings is in and of itself a target for pharmacological interventions in the treatment of Type 2 Diabetes. Nonetheless, all contribute small pieces to the vast and ever-expanding puzzle of Type 2 Diabetes.

Acknowledgments

Many people have contributed in many different ways to this thesis. I would like to thank all of you for your help and support. There are, however, a number of people who I would like to thank especially:

Hindrik Mulder, my supervisor in Lund, for your commitment and positive attitude. For giving me the freedom to plan and perform experiments the way I wanted to do them but supporting me whenever I needed that. For opening the world of insulin secretion and the β -cell to me. And of course for your diligent (proof)reading of my thesis.

Hans Arnqvist, my supervisor in Linköping, for introducing me to the field of diabetes research and for giving me the opportunity to work with human cells.

Patrik Rorsman, by co-supervisor in Lund, for offering me the opportunity to do a little calcium research and to discover that ions can be quite exciting.

Lena Eliasson, my unofficial co-supervisor in Lund, for your patience with me, and my cells, in all the calcium experiments. For all your input in the calcium manuscript: you make electrophysiology fun. Thank you for being cheerful even when the cells were difficult.

All of my co-authors, but especially Malin Fex, it has been wonderful to work with you, let's continue with that! Simona Chisalita, Anna Wendt and Nils Wierup, thank you for being nice people to work with.

The people that are or were part of Molecular Metabolism: Ulrika, for introducing me to RNA interference and sharing the exuberance and despair in performing these experiments and for being a great colleague. Kalle, for being a number 1 roommate, for balancing diabetes with a little neurodegenerative disease, for helping out in time of need. Malin, again, for being a fun person to be around with, for chats about kids, and helping me understand animal models. Maria, for fun coffee breaks, and enthusiasm for research and life in general. Cecilia, for being a breath of fresh air and a lot of fun, and for sharing the burden of GDH with me. Olga, thank you for your optimism and your ready smile. Peter, my new roommate for showing me that chemists can be very nice people. Vladimir, for helping make the last summer such a nice time.

The people at BMC C11 for making it such a nice place to work. Cecilia Holm and the members of her group: Cecilia K, thank you for nice coffee breaks and chats about research and children and everything between heaven and earth. Stéphanie, for your kindness and your willingness to share your knowledge about Q-PCR. Ulrika A, Christian, Kristoffer, Céline, Peter, Svante, Birgitta, and Sara, for lots of fun coffee breaks, parties, a little Danish, and lots of knowledge about Lund. Eva Degerman, for being so generous with your knowledge and curiosity. The people in Eva Degerman's group, Rebecca for always wanting to help and answer questions and Helena W for great games. Karin B, for being one of the most optimistic people I know, and the one with the most knowledge of archaic Swedish words. Annki P, Eva O, Olga G. for nice coffee breaks. Emilia and Alina for your friendliness and the international atmosphere you brought to the lab.

All the people at BMC B11, my second home at the BMC, for taking us in and also being a nice place to go to. But especially, Maria SW for chats about science and non-science, Lilian for answering innumerable questions. Lena K, thank you for the mouse tails. Tina, for sharing your luminol with me. Nils W, Doris P, Anna T, Elin S, and Eva E for nice coffee breaks. Sara, Jackie, Charlotte and Annika for making the last summer a super summer.

Jorien and Ruben, from BMC A10, for coming with different ideas and perspectives, and for a few Dutch conversations every now and again.

Ingegerd Persson, Elisabeth Ringsjö and Gyn Nilsson for your kind help with all kinds of administrative procedures.

My colleagues in Linköping, Simona, Anna-Kristina, Git, Karolina, L8 and Anna, thank you for introducing me to research life in Sweden.

My homefront, for calibrating the ups and downs of science and for always giving me love and support.

References

[1] Zimmet P, Alberti KG, Shaw J (2001) Global and societal implications of the diabetes epidemic. Nature 414: 782-787

[2] Mainous AG, 3rd, Baker R, Koopman RJ, et al. (2007) Impact of the population at risk of diabetes on projections of diabetes burden in the United States: an epidemic on the way. Diabetologia 50: 934-940

[3] Seidell JC (2000) Obesity, insulin resistance and diabetes--a worldwide epidemic. The British journal of nutrition 83 Suppl 1: S5-8

[4] King H, Aubert RE, Herman WH (1998) Global burden of diabetes, 1995-2025: prevalence, numerical estimates, and projections. Diabetes care 21: 1414-1431

[5] Yoon KH, Lee JH, Kim ĴW, et al. (2006) Epidemic obesity and type 2 diabetes in Asia. Lancet 368: 1681-1688

[6] Mazzone T (2004) Strategies in ongoing clinical trials to reduce cardiovascular disease in patients with diabetes mellitus and insulin resistance. The American journal of cardiology 93: 27C-31C

[7] Carr MC, Brunzell JD (2004) Abdominal obesity and dyslipidemia in the metabolic syndrome: importance of type 2 diabetes and familial combined hyperlipidemia in coronary artery disease risk. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism 89: 2601-2607

[8] Malecki MT (2005) Genetics of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetes research and clinical practice 68 Suppl1: S10-21
 [9] Tripathy D, Carlsson M, Almgren P, et al. (2000) Insulin secretion and insulin sensitiv-

[9] Tripathy D, Carlsson M, Almgren P, et al. (2000) Insulin secretion and insulin sensitivity in relation to glucose tolerance: lessons from the Botnia Study. Diabetes 49: 975-980

[10] Abdul-Ghani MA, Jenkinson CP, Richardson DK, Tripathy D, DeFronzo RA (2006) Insulin secretion and action in subjects with impaired fasting glucose and impaired glucose tolerance: results from the Veterans Administration Genetic Epidemiology Study. Diabetes 55: 1430-1435

[11] Tusie Luna MT (2005) Genes and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Archives of medical research 36: 210-222

[12] Sladek R, Rocheleau G, Rung J, et al. (2007) A genome-wide association study identifies novel risk loci for type 2 diabetes. Nature 445: 881-885

[13] (2007) Genome-wide association study of 14,000 cases of seven common diseases and 3,000 shared controls. Nature 447: 661-678

[14] Zeggini E, Weedon MN, Lindgren CM, et al. (2007) Replication of genome-wide association signals in UK samples reveals risk loci for type 2 diabetes. Science (New York, NY 316: 1336-1341

[15] Scott LJ, Mohlke KL, Bonnycastle LL, et al. (2007) A genome-wide association study of type 2 diabetes in Finns detects multiple susceptibility variants. Science (New York, NY 316: 1341-1345

[16] Saxena R, Voight BF, Lyssenko V, et al. (2007) Genome-wide association analysis identifies loci for type 2 diabetes and triglyceride levels. Science (New York, NY 316: 1331-1336

[17] Grant SF, Thorleifsson G, Reynisdottir I, et al. (2006) Variant of transcription factor 7like 2 (TCF7L2) gene confers risk of type 2 diabetes. Nature genetics 38: 320-323

[18] Alberti KG, Zimmet P, Shaw J (2007) International Diabetes Federation: a consensus on Type 2 diabetes prevention. Diabet Med 24: 451-463

[19] Asche CV, McAdam-Marx C, Shane-McWhorter L, Sheng X, Plauschinat CA (2007) Association between oral antidiabetic use, adverse events and outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Obes Metab

[20] Bate KL, Jerums G (2003) 3: Preventing complications of diabetes. The Medical journal of Australia 179: 498-503

[21] Chaturvedi N, Sjoelie AK, Porta M, et al. (2001) Markers of insulin resistance are strong risk factors for retinopathy incidence in type 1 diabetes. Diabetes care 24: 284-289

[22] Kullberg CE, Abrahamsson M, Arnqvist HJ, Finnstrom K, Ludvigsson J (2002) Prevalence of retinopathy differs with age at onset of diabetes in a population of patients with Type 1 diabetes. Diabet Med 19: 924-931

[23] Henricsson M, Nystrom L, Blohme G, et al. (2003) The incidence of retinopathy 10 years after diagnosis in young adult people with diabetes: results from the nationwide population-based Diabetes Incidence Study in Sweden (DISS). Diabetes care 26: 349-354

[24] (1998) Intensive blood-glucose control with sulphonylureas or insulin compared with conventional treatment and risk of complications in patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 33). UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) Group. Lancet 352: 837-853

[25] (1998) Tight blood pressure control and risk of macrovascular and microvascular complications in type 2 diabetes: UKPDS 38. UK Prospective Diabetes Study Group. BMJ (Clinical research ed 317: 703-713

[26] (1993) The effect of intensive treatment of diabetes on the development and progression of long-term complications in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group. The New England journal of medicine 329: 977-986

[27] Boyle PJ (2007) Diabetes mellitus and macrovascular disease: mechanisms and mediators. The American journal of medicine 120: S12-17

[28] Avogaro A, Vigili de Kreutzenberg S, Negut C, Tiengo A, Scognamiglio R (2004) Diabetic cardiomyopathy: a metabolic perspective. The American journal of cardiology 93: 13A-16A

[29] Barr EL, Zimmet PZ, Welborn TA, et al. (2007) Risk of cardiovascular and all-cause mortality in individuals with diabetes mellitus, impaired fasting glucose, and impaired glucose tolerance: the Australian Diabetes, Obesity, and Lifestyle Study (AusDiab). Circulation 116: 151-157

[30] Luscher TF, Creager MA, Beckman JA, Cosentino F (2003) Diabetes and vascular disease: pathophysiology, clinical consequences, and medical therapy: Part II. Circulation 108: 1655-1661

[31] Plutzky J (2003) The vascular biology of atherosclerosis. The American journal of medicine 115 Suppl 8A: 55S-61S

[32] Skrha J (2003) Pathogenesis of angiopathy in diabetes. Acta diabetologica 40 Suppl 2: S324-329

[33] Giles TD (2003) The patient with diabetes mellitus and heart failure: at-risk issues. The American journal of medicine 115 Suppl 8A: 107S-110S

[34] Junqueira LCUa, Carneiro J, Kelley RO (1998) Basic histology. Appleton & Lange, Stamford, Conn.

[35] Ross MH, Romrell LJ, Kaye GI (1995) Histology : a text and atlas. Williams & Wilkins, Baltimore

[36] Schuit F, De Vos A, Farfari S, et al. (1997) Metabolic fate of glucose in purified islet cells. Glucose-regulated anaplerosis in beta cells. The Journal of biological chemistry 272: 18572-18579

[37] Sekine N, Cirulli V, Regazzi R, et al. (1994) Low lactate dehydrogenase and high mitochondrial glycerol phosphate dehydrogenase in pancreatic beta-cells. Potential role in nutrient sensing. The Journal of biological chemistry 269: 4895-4902

[38] Curry DL, Bennett LL, Grodsky GM (1968) Dynamics of insulin secretion by the perfused rat pancreas. Endocrinology 83: 572-584

[39] Rorsman P, Eliasson L, Renstrom E, Gromada J, Barg S, Gopel S (2000) The Cell Physiology of Biphasic Insulin Secretion. News Physiol Sci 15: 72-77

[40] Eliasson L, Renstrom E, Ding WG, Proks P, Rorsman P (1997) Rapid ATP-dependent priming of secretory granules precedes Ca(2+)-induced exocytosis in mouse pancreatic B-cells. J Physiol 503 (Pt 2): 399-412

[41] Rorsman P, Renstrom E (2003) Insulin granule dynamics in pancreatic beta cells. Diabetologia 46: 1029-1045

[42] Henquin JC (2000) Triggering and amplifying pathways of regulation of insulin secretion by glucose. Diabetes 49: 1751-1760

[43] Gembal M, Gilon P, Henquin JC (1992) Evidence that glucose can control insulin release independently from its action on ATP-sensitive K+ channels in mouse B cells. The Journal of clinical investigation 89: 1288-1295

[44] Sato Y, Aizawa T, Komatsu M, Okada N, Yamada T (1992) Dual functional role of membrane depolarization/Ca2+ influx in rat pancreatic B-cell. Diabetes 41: 438-443

[45] Straub SG, James RF, Dunne MJ, Sharp GW (1998) Glucose activates both K(ATP) channel-dependent and K(ATP) channel-independent signaling pathways in human islets. Diabetes 47: 758-763

[46] Maechler P (2002) Mitochondria as the conductor of metabolic signals for insulin exocytosis in pancreatic beta-cells. Cell Mol Life Sci 59: 1803-1818

[47] Sato Y, Henquin JC (1998) The K+-ATP channel-independent pathway of regulation of insulin secretion by glucose: in search of the underlying mechanism. Diabetes 47: 1713-1721

[48] Prentki M (1996) New insights into pancreatic beta-cell metabolic signaling in insulin secretion. European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies 134: 272-286

[49] Khan A, Ling ZC, Landau BR (1996) Quantifying the carboxylation of pyruvate in pancreatic islets. The Journal of biological chemistry 271: 2539-2542

[50] MacDonald MJ (1995) Feasibility of a mitochondrial pyruvate malate shuttle in pancreatic islets. Further implication of cytosolic NADPH in insulin secretion. The Journal of biological chemistry 270: 20051-20058

[51] Rutter GA (2001) Nutrient-secretion coupling in the pancreatic islet beta-cell: recent advances. Molecular aspects of medicine 22: 247-284

[52] Gray MW, Burger G, Lang BF (1999) Mitochondrial evolution. Science (New York, NY 283: 1476-1481

[53] Wallace DC (1999) Mitochondrial diseases in man and mouse. Science (New York, NY 283: 1482-1488

[54] Rizzuto R, Pinton P, Carrington W, et al. (1998) Close contacts with the endoplasmic reticulum as determinants of mitochondrial Ca2+ responses. Science (New York, NY 280: 1763-1766

[55] Larsson NG, Wang J, Wilhelmsson H, et al. (1998) Mitochondrial transcription factor A is necessary for mtDNA maintenance and embryogenesis in mice. Nature genetics 18: 231-236
 [56] Silva JP, Kohler M, Graff C, et al. (2000) Impaired insulin secretion and beta-cell loss in

tissue-specific knockout mice with mitochondrial diabetes. Nature genetics 26: 336-340 [57] Maassen JA, van Essen E, van den Ouweland JM, Lemkes HH (2001) Molecular and

clinical aspects of mitochondrial diabetes mellitus. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes 109: 127-134 [58] Maassen JA, Jahangir Tafrechi RS, Janssen GM, Raap AK, Lemkes HH, t Hart LM (2006) New insights in the molecular pathogenesis of the maternally inherited diabetes and deafness syndrome. Endocrinology and metabolism clinics of North America 35: 385-396, x-xi

[59] Freeman H, Shimomura K, Horner E, Cox RD, Ashcroft FM (2006) Nicotinamide nucleotide transhydrogenase: a key role in insulin secretion. Cell Metab 3: 35-45

[60] Toye AA, Lippiat JD, Proks P, et al. (2005) A genetic and physiological study of impaired glucose homeostasis control in C57BL/6J mice. Diabetologia 48: 675-686

[61] Hoek JB, Rydstrom J (1988) Physiological roles of nicotinamide nucleotide transhydrogenase. The Biochemical journal 254: 1-10

[62] Krauss S, Zhang CÝ, Scorrano L, et al. (2003) Superoxide-mediated activation of uncoupling protein 2 causes pancreatic beta cell dysfunction. The Journal of clinical investigation 112: 1831-1842

[63] Stein DT, Esser V, Stevenson BE, et al. (1996) Essentiality of circulating fatty acids for glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in the fasted rat. The Journal of clinical investigation 97: 2728-2735

[64] Dobbins RL, Chester MW, Daniels MB, McGarry JD, Stein DT (1998) Circulating fatty acids are essential for efficient glucose-stimulated insulin secretion after prolonged fasting in humans. Diabetes 47: 1613-1618

[65] Cnop M, Hannaert JC, Hoorens A, Eizirik DL, Pipeleers DG (2001) Inverse relationship between cytotoxicity of free fatty acids in pancreatic islet cells and cellular triglyceride accumulation. Diabetes 50: 1771-1777

[66] Unger RH, Zhou YT (2001) Lipotoxicity of beta-cells in obesity and in other causes of fatty acid spillover. Diabetes 50 Suppl 1: S118-121

[67] Mulder H, Lu D, Finley Jt, et al. (2001) Overexpression of a modified human malonyl-CoA decarboxylase blocks the glucose-induced increase in malonyl-CoA level but has no impact on insulin secretion in INS-1-derived (832/13) beta-cells. The Journal of biological chemistry 276: 6479-6484

[68] Chen S, Ogawa A, Ohneda M, Unger RH, Foster DW, McGarry JD (1994) More direct evidence for a malonyl-CoA-carnitine palmitoyltransferase I interaction as a key event in pancreatic beta-cell signaling. Diabetes 43: 878-883

[69] Prentki M, Corkey BE (1996) Are the beta-cell signaling molecules malonyl-CoA and cystolic long-chain acyl-CoA implicated in multiple tissue defects of obesity and NIDDM? Diabetes 45: 273-283

[70] McGarry JD, Mannaerts GP, Foster DW (1977) A possible role for malonyl-CoA in the regulation of hepatic fatty acid oxidation and ketogenesis. The Journal of clinical investigation 60: 265-270

[71] Alcazar O, Qiu-yue Z, Gine E, Tamarit-Rodriguez J (1997) Stimulation of islet protein kinase C translocation by palmitate requires metabolism of the fatty acid. Diabetes 46: 1153-1158

[72] Zhou YP, Grill VE (1994) Long-term exposure of rat pancreatic islets to fatty acids inhibits glucose-induced insulin secretion and biosynthesis through a glucose fatty acid cycle. The Journal of clinical investigation 93: 870-876 [73] Lindvall H, Nevsten P, Strom K, et al. (2004) A novel hormone-sensitive lipase isoform expressed in pancreatic beta-cells. The Journal of biological chemistry 279: 3828-3836

[74] Mulder H, Holst LS, Svensson H, et al. (1999) Hormone-sensitive lipase, the ratelimiting enzyme in triglyceride hydrolysis, is expressed and active in beta-cells. Diabetes 48: 228-232

[75] Itoh Y, Kawamata Y, Harada M, et al. (2003) Free fatty acids regulate insulin secretion from pancreatic beta cells through GPR40. Nature 422: 173-176

[76] Sako Y, Grill VE (1990) A 48-hour lipid infusion in the rat time-dependently inhibits glucose-induced insulin secretion and B cell oxidation through a process likely coupled to fatty acid oxidation. Endocrinology 127: 1580-1589

[77] Bollheimer LC, Skelly RH, Chester MW, McGarry JD, Rhodes CJ (1998) Chronic exposure to free fatty acid reduces pancreatic beta cell insulin content by increasing basal insulin secretion that is not compensated for by a corresponding increase in proinsulin biosynthesis translation. The Journal of clinical investigation 101: 1094-1101

[78] Poitout V, Robertson RP (2002) Minireview: Secondary beta-cell failure in type 2 diabetes--a convergence of glucotoxicity and lipotoxicity. Endocrinology 143: 339-342

[79] Catterall WA (2000) Structure and regulation of voltage-gated Ca2+ channels. Annual review of cell and developmental biology 16: 521-555

[80] Ertel EA, Campbell KP, Harpold MM, et al. (2000) Nomenclature of voltage-gated calcium channels. Neuron 25: 533-535

[81] Grabsch H, Pereverzev A, Weiergraber M, et al. (1999) Immunohistochemical detection of alpha1E voltage-gated Ca(2+) channel isoforms in cerebellum, INS-1 cells, and neuroendocrine cells of the digestive system. J Histochem Cytochem 47: 981-994

[82] Ligon B, Boyd AE, 3rd, Dunlap K (1998) Class A calcium channel variants in pancreatic islets and their role in insulin secretion. The Journal of biological chemistry 273: 13905-13911

[83] Plant TD (1988) Properties and calcium-dependent inactivation of calcium currents in cultured mouse pancreatic B-cells. J Physiol 404: 731-747

[84] Safayhi H, Haase H, Kramer U, et al. (1997) L-type calcium channels in insulinsecreting cells: biochemical characterization and phosphorylation in RINm5F cells. Molecular endocrinology (Baltimore, Md 11: 619-629

[85] Sala S, Matteson DR (1990) Single-channel recordings of two types of calcium channels in rat pancreatic beta-cells. Biophys J 58: 567-571

[86] Zhuang H, Bhattacharjee A, Hu F, et al. (2000) Cloning of a T-type Ca2+ channel isoform in insulin-secreting cells. Diabetes 49: 59-64

[87] Huang L, Bhattacharjee A, Taylor JT, et al. (2004) [Ca2+]i regulates trafficking of Cav1.3 (alpha1D Ca2+ channel) in insulin-secreting cells. American journal of physiology 286: C213-221

[88] Schulla V, Renstrom E, Feil R, et al. (2003) Impaired insulin secretion and glucose tolerance in beta cell-selective Ca(v)1.2 Ca2+ channel null mice. The EMBO journal 22: 3844-3854

[89] Seino S, Chen L, Seino M, et al. (1992) Cloning of the alpha 1 subunit of a voltagedependent calcium channel expressed in pancreatic beta cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 89: 584-588

[90] Taylor JT, Huang L, Keyser BM, Zhuang H, Clarkson CW, Li M (2005) Role of highvoltage-activated calcium channels in glucose regulated {beta}-cell calcium homeostasis and insulin release. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab

[91] Namkung Y, Skrypnyk N, Jeong MJ, et al. (2001) Requirement for the L-type Ca(2+) channel alpha(1D) subunit in postnatal pancreatic beta cell generation. The Journal of clinical investigation 108: 1015-1022

[92] Rutter GA, Theler JM, Murgia M, Wollheim CB, Pozzan T, Rizzuto R (1993) Stimulated Ca2+ influx raises mitochondrial free Ca2+ to supramicromolar levels in a pancreatic beta-cell line. Possible role in glucose and agonist-induced insulin secretion. The Journal of biological chemistry 268: 22385-22390

[93] Íwashima Y, Pugh W, Depaoli AM, et al. (1993) Expression of calcium channel mRNAs in rat pancreatic islets and downregulation after glucose infusion. Diabetes 42: 948-955

 [94] Liu G, Hilliard N, Hockerman GH (2004) Cav1.3 is preferentially coupled to glucoseinduced [Ca2+]i oscillations in the pancreatic beta cell line INS-1. Mol Pharmacol 65: 1269-1277
 [95] Yang SN, Larsson O, Branstrom R, et al. (1999) Syntaxin 1 interacts with the L(D) sub-

type of voltage-gated Ca(2+) channels in pancreatic beta cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 96: 10164-10169

[96] Platzer J, Engel J, Schrott-Fischer A, et al. (2000) Congenital deafness and sinoatrial node dysfunction in mice lacking class D L-type Ca2+ channels. Cell 102: 89-97

[97] Satin LS, Tavalin SJ, Kinard TA, Teague J (1995) Contribution of L- and non-L-type calcium channels to voltage-gated calcium current and glucose-dependent insulin secretion in HIT-T15 cells. Endocrinology 136: 4589-4601

[98] Sher E, Giovannini F, Codignola A, et al. (2003) Voltage-operated calcium channel heterogeneity in pancreatic beta cells: physiopathological implications. J Bioenerg Biomembr 35: 687-696

[99] Jing X, Li DQ, Olofsson CS, et al. (2005) CaV2.3 calcium channels control second-phase insulin release. The Journal of clinical investigation 115: 146-154

[100] Vajna R, Klockner U, Pereverzev A, et al. (2001) Functional coupling between 'R-type' Ca2+ channels and insulin secretion in the insulinoma cell line INS-1. Eur J Biochem 268: 1066-1075

[101] MacDonald PE, Obermuller S, Vikman J, Galvanovskis J, Rorsman P, Eliasson L (2005) Regulated exocytosis and kiss-and-run of synaptic-like microvesicles in INS-1 and primary rat beta-cells. Diabetes 54: 736-743

[102] Vignali S, Leiss V, Karl R, Hofmann F, Welling A (2006) Characterization of voltagedependent sodium and calcium channels in mouse pancreatic A- and B-cells. J Physiol 572: 691-706

[103] Perez-Reyes E (2003) Molecular physiology of low-voltage-activated t-type calcium channels. Physiological reviews 83: 117-161

[104] Yang SN, Berggren PO (2005) Beta-cell CaV channel regulation in physiology and pathophysiology. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 288: E16-28

[105] Pragnell M, De Waard M, Mori Y, Tanabe T, Snutch TP, Campbell KP (1994) Calcium channel beta-subunit binds to a conserved motif in the I-II cytoplasmic linker of the alpha 1-subunit. Nature 368: 67-70

[106] De Jongh KS, Warner C, Catterall WA (1990) Subunits of purified calcium channels. Alpha 2 and delta are encoded by the same gene. The Journal of biological chemistry 265: 14738-14741

[107] Kobrinsky E, Tiwari S, Maltsev VA, et al. (2005) Differential role of the alpha1C subunit tails in regulation of the Cav1.2 channel by membrane potential, beta subunits, and Ca2+ ions. The Journal of biological chemistry 280: 12474-12485

[108] Barbosa RM, Silva AM, Tome AR, Stamford JA, Santos RM, Rosario LM (1998) Control of pulsatile 5-HT/insulin secretion from single mouse pancreatic islets by intracellular calcium dynamics. J Physiol 510 (Pt 1): 135-143

[109] Deeney JT, Kohler M, Kubik K, et al. (2001) Glucose-induced metabolic oscillations parallel those of Ca(2+) and insulin release in clonal insulin-secreting cells. A multiwell approach to oscillatory cell behavior. The Journal of biological chemistry 276: 36946-36950

[110] Heart E, Smith PJ (2007) Rhythm of the beta-cell oscillator is not governed by a single regulator: multiple systems contribute to oscillatory behavior. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 292: E1295-1300

[111] Westerlund J, Ortsater H, Palm F, Sundsten T, Bergsten P (2001) Glucose-regulated pulsatile insulin release from mouse islets via the K(ATP) channel-independent pathway. European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies 144: 667-675 [112] Rutter GA, Tsuboi T, Ravier MA (2006) Ca2+ microdomains and the control of insulin secretion. Cell Calcium 40: 539-551

[113] Maechler P, Kennedy ED, Sebo E, Valeva A, Pozzan T, Wollheim CB (1999) Secretagogues modulate the calcium concentration in the endoplasmic reticulum of insulinsecreting cells. Studies in aequorin-expressing intact and permeabilized ins-1 cells. The Journal of biological chemistry 274: 12583-12592

[114] Varadi A, Ainscow EK, Allan VJ, Rutter GA (2002) Molecular mechanisms involved in secretory vesicle recruitment to the plasma membrane in beta-cells. Biochem Soc Trans 30: 328-332

[115] Wiser O, Trus M, Hernandez A, et al. (1999) The voltage sensitive Lc-type Ca2+ channel is functionally coupled to the exocytotic machinery. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 96: 248-253

[116] Bokvist K, Eliasson L, Ammala C, Renstrom E, Rorsman P (1995) Co-localization of Ltype Ca2+ channels and insulin-containing secretory granules and its significance for the initiation of exocytosis in mouse pancreatic B-cells. The EMBO journal 14: 50-57

[117] Mears D (2004) Regulation of insulin secretion in islets of Langerhans by Ca(2+)channels. J Membr Biol 200: 57-66

[118] Pouli AE, Karagenc N, Wasmeier C, et al. (1998) A phogrin-aequorin chimaera to image free Ca2+ in the vicinity of secretory granules. The Biochemical journal 330 (Pt 3): 1399-1404 [119] Emmanouilidou E, Teschemacher AG, Pouli AE, Nicholls LI, Seward EP, Rutter GA (1999) Imaging Ca2+ concentration changes at the secretory vesicle surface with a recombinant targeted cameleon. Curr Biol 9: 915-918

[120] Iwashima Y, Abiko A, Ushikubi F, et al. (2001) Downregulation of the voltagedependent calcium channel (VDCC) beta-subunit mRNAs in pancreatic islets of type 2 diabetic rats. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 280: 923-932

[121] Kato S, Ishida H, Tsuura Y, et al. (1994) Increased calcium-channel currents of pancreatic beta cells in neonatally streptozocin-induced diabetic rats. Metabolism: clinical and experimental 43: 1395-1400

[122] Kato S, Ishida H, Tsuura Y, et al. (1996) Alterations in basal and glucose-stimulated voltage-dependent Ca2+ channel activities in pancreatic beta cells of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus GK rats. The Journal of clinical investigation 97: 2417-2425

[123] Splawski I, Timothy KW, Sharpe LM, et al. (2004) Ca(V)1.2 calcium channel dysfunction causes a multisystem disorder including arrhythmia and autism. Cell 119: 19-31

[124] White MF (2003) Insulin signaling in health and disease. Science (New York, NY 302: 1710-1711

[125] Bugianesi E, McCullough AJ, Marchesini G (2005) Insulin resistance: a metabolic pathway to chronic liver disease. Hepatology (Baltimore, Md 42: 987-1000

[126] Barnard RJ, Youngren JF (1992) Regulation of glucose transport in skeletal muscle. Faseb J 6: 3238-3244

[127] Holm C, Langin D, Manganiello V, Belfrage P, Degerman E (1997) Regulation of hormone-sensitive lipase activity in adipose tissue. Methods in enzymology 286: 45-67

[128] Harbeck MC, Louie DC, Howland J, Wolf BA, Rothenberg PL (1996) Expression of insulin receptor mRNA and insulin receptor substrate 1 in pancreatic islet beta-cells. Diabetes 45: 711-717

[129] Rothenberg PL, Willison LD, Simon J, Wolf BA (1995) Glucose-induced insulin receptor tyrosine phosphorylation in insulin-secreting beta-cells. Diabetes 44: 802-809

[130] Kulkarni RN, Bruning JC, Winnay JN, Postic C, Magnuson MA, Kahn CR (1999) Tissue-specific knockout of the insulin receptor in pancreatic beta cells creates an insulin secretory defect similar to that in type 2 diabetes. Cell 96: 329-339

[131] DeFronzo RA, Bonadonna RC, Ferrannini E (1992) Pathogenesis of NIDDM. A balanced overview. Diabetes care 15: 318-368

[132] Reaven GM (2003) Insulin resistance/compensatory hyperinsulinemia, essential hypertension, and cardiovascular disease. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism 88: 2399-2403

[133] Unger RH, Zhou YT, Orci L (1999) Regulation of fatty acid homeostasis in cells: novel role of leptin. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 96: 2327-2332

[134] Ahima RS (2006) Metabolic actions of adipocyte hormones: focus on adiponectin. Obesity (Silver Spring, Md 14 Suppl 1: 9S-15S

[135] Goldstein BJ, Scalia R (2004) Adiponectin: A novel adipokine linking adipocytes and vascular function. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism 89: 2563-2568

[136] Parish R, Petersen KF (2005) Mitochondrial dysfunction and type 2 diabetes. Curr Diab Rep 5: 177-183

[137] Dresner A, Laurent D, Marcucci M, et al. (1999) Effects of free fatty acids on glucose transport and IRS-1-associated phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activity. The Journal of clinical investigation 103: 253-259

[138] Reimer MK, Ahren B (2002) Altered beta-cell distribution of pdx-1 and GLUT-2 after a short-term challenge with a high-fat diet in C57BL/6J mice. Diabetes 51 Suppl 1: S138-143

[139] Thorburn AW, Gumbiner B, Bulacan F, Brechtel G, Henry RR (1991) Multiple defects in muscle glycogen synthase activity contribute to reduced glycogen synthesis in non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. The Journal of clinical investigation 87: 489-495

[140] Petersen KF, Befroy D, Dufour S, et al. (2003) Mitochondrial dysfunction in the elderly: possible role in insulin resistance. Science (New York, NY 300: 1140-1142

[141] Rhodes CJ (2005) Type 2 diabetes-a matter of beta-cell life and death? Science (New York, NY 307: 380-384

[142] Frattali AL, Treadway JL, Pessin JE (1992) Transmembrane signaling by the human insulin receptor kinase. Relationship between intramolecular beta subunit trans- and cisautophosphorylation and substrate kinase activation. The Journal of biological chemistry 267: 19521-19528

[143] Frattali AL, Pessin JE (1993) Relationship between alpha subunit ligand occupancy and beta subunit autophosphorylation in insulin/insulin-like growth factor-1 hybrid receptors. The Journal of biological chemistry 268: 7393-7400 [144] Seely BL, Reichart DR, Takata Y, Yip C, Olefsky JM (1995) A functional assessment of insulin/insulin-like growth factor-I hybrid receptors. Endocrinology 136: 1635-1641

[145] Treadway JĽ, Morrison BD, Goldfine ID, Pessin JE (1989) Assembly of insulin/insulinlike growth factor-1 hybrid receptors in vitro. The Journal of biological chemistry 264: 21450-21453

[146] Molina L, Marino-Buslje C, Quinn DR, Siddle K (2000) Structural domains of the insulin receptor and IGF receptor required for dimerisation and ligand binding. FEBS letters 467: 226-230

[147] Sweet LJ, Morrison BD, Pessin JE (1987) Isolation of functional alpha beta heterodimers from the purified human placental alpha 2 beta 2 heterotetrameric insulin receptor complex. A structural basis for insulin binding heterogeneity. The Journal of biological chemistry 262: 6939-6942

[148] Boni-Schnetzler M, Scott W, Waugh SM, DiBella E, Pilch PF (1987) The insulin receptor. Structural basis for high affinity ligand binding. The Journal of biological chemistry 262: 8395-8401

[149] Kosaki A, Nelson J, Webster NJ (1998) Identification of intron and exon sequences involved in alternative splicing of insulin receptor pre-mRNA. The Journal of biological chemistry 273: 10331-10337

[150] Sell SM, Reese D, Ossowski VM (1994) Insulin-inducible changes in insulin receptor mRNA splice variants. The Journal of biological chemistry 269: 30769-30772

[151] Kosaki A, Webster NJ (1993) Effect of dexamethasone on the alternative splicing of the insulin receptor mRNA and insulin action in HepG2 hepatoma cells. The Journal of biological chemistry 268: 21990-21996

[152] Moller DE, Yokota A, Caro JF, Flier JS (1989) Tissue-specific expression of two alternatively spliced insulin receptor mRNAs in man. Molecular endocrinology (Baltimore, Md 3: 1263-1269

[153] Frasca F, Pandini G, Scalia P, et al. (1999) Insulin receptor isoform A, a newly recognized, high-affinity insulin-like growth factor II receptor in fetal and cancer cells. Molecular and cellular biology 19: 3278-3288

[154] Entingh-Pearsall A, Kahn CR (2004) Differential roles of the insulin and insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) receptors in response to insulin and IGF-I. The Journal of biological chemistry 279: 38016-38024

[155] Śerrano R, Villar M, Martinez C, Carrascosa JM, Gallardo N, Andres A (2005) Differential gene expression of insulin receptor isoforms A and B and insulin receptor substrates 1, 2 and 3 in rat tissues: modulation by aging and differentiation in rat adipose tissue. Journal of molecular endocrinology 34: 153-161

[156] Uhles S, Moede T, Leibiger B, Berggren PO, Leibiger IB (2003) Isoform-specific insulin receptor signaling involves different plasma membrane domains. The Journal of cell biology 163: 1327-1337

[157] Hribal ML, Perego L, Lovari S, et al. (2003) Chronic hyperglycemia impairs insulin secretion by affecting insulin receptor expression, splicing, and signaling in RIN beta cell line and human islets of Langerhans. Faseb J 17: 1340-1342

[158] Leibiger B, Leibiger IB, Moede T, et al. (2001) Selective insulin signaling through A and B insulin receptors regulates transcription of insulin and glucokinase genes in pancreatic beta cells. Molecular cell 7: 559-570

[159] Pashmforoush M, Yoshimasa Y, Steiner DF (1994) Exon 11 enhances insulin binding affinity and tyrosine kinase activity of the human insulin proreceptor. The Journal of biological chemistry 269: 32639-32648

[160] Sesti G, Federici M, Lauro D, Sbraccia P, Lauro R (2001) Molecular mechanism of insulin resistance in type 2 diabetes mellitus: role of the insulin receptor variant forms. Diabetes/metabolism research and reviews 17: 363-373

[161] Whittaker J, Sorensen H, Gadsboll VL, Hinrichsen J (2002) Comparison of the functional insulin binding epitopes of the A and B isoforms of the insulin receptor. The Journal of biological chemistry 277: 47380-47384

[162] Sesti G, D'Alfonso R, Vargas Punti MD, et al. (1995) Peptide-based radioimmunoassay for the two isoforms of the human insulin receptor. Diabetologia 38: 445-453

[163] Bar RS, Boes M, Dake BL, Booth BA, Henley SA, Sandra A (1988) Insulin, insulin-like growth factors, and vascular endothelium. The American journal of medicine 85: 59-70

[164] Cardillo C, Nambi SS, Kilcoyne CM, et al. (1999) Insulin stimulates both endothelin and nitric oxide activity in the human forearm. Circulation 100: 820-825

[165] Zeng G, Quon MJ (1996) Insulin-stimulated production of nitric oxide is inhibited by wortmannin. Direct measurement in vascular endothelial cells. The Journal of clinical investigation 98: 894-898

[166] Kim F, Gallis B, Corson MA (2001) TNF-alpha inhibits flow and insulin signaling leading to NO production in aortic endothelial cells. American journal of physiology 280: C1057-1065

[167] Okouchi M, Okayama N, Imai S, et al. (2002) High insulin enhances neutrophil transendothelial migration through increasing surface expression of platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 via activation of mitogen activated protein kinase. Diabetologia 45: 1449-1456

[168] Hasan RN, Phukan S, Harada S (2003) Differential regulation of early growth response gene-1 expression by insulin and glucose in vascular endothelial cells. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology 23: 988-993

[169] Hermann C, Assmus B, Urbich C, Zeiher AM, Dimmeler S (2000) Insulin-mediated stimulation of protein kinase Akt: A potent survival signaling cascade for endothelial cells. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology 20: 402-409

[170] Bar RS, Peacock ML, Spanheimer RG, Veenstra R, Hoak JC (1980) Differential binding of insulin to human arterial and venous endothelial cells in primary culture. Diabetes 29: 991-995

[171] Bar RS, Hoak JC, Peacock ML (1978) Insulin receptors in human endothelial cells: identification and characterization. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism 47: 699-702

[172] Zeng G, Nystrom FH, Ravichandran LV, et al. (2000) Roles for insulin receptor, PI3kinase, and Akt in insulin-signaling pathways related to production of nitric oxide in human vascular endothelial cells. Circulation 101: 1539-1545

[173] Jones JI, Clemmons DR (1995) Insulin-like growth factors and their binding proteins: biological actions. Endocrine reviews 16: 3-34

[174] Juul A (2003) Serum levels of insulin-like growth factor I and its binding proteins in health and disease. Growth Horm IGF Res 13: 113-170

[175] Roberts CT, Jr., Lasky SR, Lowe WL, Jr., Seaman WT, LeRoith D (1987) Molecular cloning of rat insulin-like growth factor I complementary deoxyribonucleic acids: differential messenger ribonucleic acid processing and regulation by growth hormone in extrahepatic tissues. Molecular endocrinology (Baltimore, Md 1: 243-248

[176] Le Roith D (2003) The insulin-like growth factor system. Experimental diabesity research 4: 205-212

[177] Tucci M, Nygard K, Tanswell BV, Farber HW, Hill DJ, Han VK (1998) Modulation of insulin-like growth factor (IGF) and IGF binding protein biosynthesis by hypoxia in cultured vascular endothelial cells. The Journal of endocrinology 157: 13-24

[178] Dahlfors G, Arnqvist HJ (2000) Vascular endothelial growth factor and transforming growth factor-beta1 regulate the expression of insulin-like growth factor-binding protein-3, -4, and -5 in large vessel endothelial cells. Endocrinology 141: 2062-2067

[179] Bunn RC, Fowlkes JL (2003) Insulin-like growth factor binding protein proteolysis. Trends in endocrinology and metabolism: TEM 14: 176-181

[180] Nakae J, Kido Y, Accili D (2001) Distinct and overlapping functions of insulin and IGF-I receptors. Endocrine reviews 22: 818-835

[181] Clemmons DR, Underwood LE (1991) Nutritional regulation of IGF-I and IGF binding proteins. Annual review of nutrition 11: 393-412

[182] Ren J, Samson WK, Sowers JR (1999) Insulin-like growth factor I as a cardiac hormone: physiological and pathophysiological implications in heart disease. Journal of molecular and cellular cardiology 31: 2049-2061

[183] Han RN, Post M, Tanswell AK, Lye SJ (2003) Insulin-like growth factor-I receptormediated vasculogenesis/angiogenesis in human lung development. American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology 28: 159-169

[184] Froesch ER, Hussain MA, Schmid C, Zapf J (1996) Insulin-like growth factor I: physiology, metabolic effects and clinical uses. Diabetes/metabolism reviews 12: 195-215

[185] Hellstrom A, Perruzzi C, Ju M, et al. (2001) Low IGF-I suppresses VEGF-survival signaling in retinal endothelial cells: direct correlation with clinical retinopathy of prematurity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 98: 5804-5808

[186] Liu W, Liu Y, Lowe Jr WL, Jr. (2001) The role of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and the mitogen-activated protein kinases in insulin-like growth factor-I-mediated effects in vascular endothelial cells. Endocrinology 142: 1710-1719

[187] Bar RS, Dake BL, Stueck S (1987) Stimulation of proteoglycans by IGF I and II in microvessel and large vessel endothelial cells. The American journal of physiology 253: E21-27

[188] Jehle PM, Jehle DR, Mohan S, Bohm BO (1998) Serum levels of insulin-like growth factor system components and relationship to bone metabolism in Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes mellitus patients. The Journal of endocrinology 159: 297-306 [189] Clauson PG, Brismar K, Hall K, Linnarsson R, Grill V (1998) Insulin-like growth factor-I and insulin-like growth factor binding protein-1 in a representative population of type 2 diabetic patients in Sweden. Scandinavian journal of clinical and laboratory investigation 58: 353-360

[190] Hedman CA, Frystyk J, Lindstrom T, et al. (2004) Residual beta-cell function more than glycemic control determines abnormalities of the insulin-like growth factor system in type 1 diabetes. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism 89: 6305-6309

[191] Goodman-Gruen D, Barrett-Connor E, Rosen C (2000) IGF-1 and ischemic heart disease in older people. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 48: 860-861

[192] Conti E, Andreotti F, Sciahbasi A, et al. (2001) Markedly reduced insulin-like growth factor-1 in the acute phase of myocardial infarction. Journal of the American College of Cardiology 38: 26-32

[193] Janssen JA, Stolk RP, Pols HA, Grobbee DE, Lamberts SW (1998) Serum total IGF-I, free IGF-I, and IGFB-1 levels in an elderly population: relation to cardiovascular risk factors and disease. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology 18: 277-282

[194] Poulaki V, Joussen AM, Mitsiades N, Mitsiades CS, Íliaki EF, Adamis AP (2004) Insulin-like growth factor-I plays a pathogenetic role in diabetic retinopathy. The American journal of pathology 165: 457-469

[195] Ullrich A, Gray A, Tam AW, et al. (1986) Insulin-like growth factor I receptor primary structure: comparison with insulin receptor suggests structural determinants that define functional specificity. The EMBO journal 5: 2503-2512

[196] Tollefsen SE, Thompson K (1988) The structural basis for insulin-like growth factor I receptor high affinity binding. The Journal of biological chemistry 263: 16267-16273

[197] Spoerri PE, Ellis EA, Tarnuzzer RW, Grant MB (1998) Insulin-like growth factor: receptor and binding proteins in human retinal endothelial cell cultures of diabetic and nondiabetic origin. Growth Horm IGF Res 8: 125-132

[198] Ohashi H, Rosen KM, Smith FE, Villa-Komaroff L, Nayak RC, King GL (1993) Characterization of type I IGF receptor and IGF-I mRNA expression in cultured human and bovine glomerular cells. Regulatory peptides 48: 9-20

[199] Soos MA, Siddle K (1989) Immunological relationships between receptors for insulin and insulin-like growth factor I. Evidence for structural heterogeneity of insulin-like growth factor I receptors involving hybrids with insulin receptors. The Biochemical journal 263: 553-563

[200] Moxham CP, Duronio V, Jacobs S (1989) Insulin-like growth factor I receptor betasubunit heterogeneity. Evidence for hybrid tetramers composed of insulin-like growth factor I and insulin receptor heterodimers. The Journal of biological chemistry 264: 13238-13244

[201] Federici M, Porzio O, Zucaro L, et al. (1997) Distribution of insulin/insulin-like growth factor-I hybrid receptors in human tissues. Molecular and cellular endocrinology 129: 121-126

[202] Bailyes EM, Nave BT, Soos MA, Orr SR, Hayward AC, Siddle K (1997) Insulin receptor/IGF-I receptor hybrids are widely distributed in mammalian tissues: quantification of individual receptor species by selective immunoprecipitation and immunoblotting. The Biochemical journal 327 (Pt 1): 209-215

[203] Pandini G, Vigneri R, Costantino A, et al. (1999) Insulin and insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) receptor overexpression in breast cancers leads to insulin/IGF-I hybrid receptor overexpression: evidence for a second mechanism of IGF-I signaling. Clin Cancer Res 5: 1935-1944

[204] Roth J, Kahn CR, Lesniak MA, et al. (1975) Receptors for insulin, NSILA-s, and growth hormone: applications to disease states in man. Recent progress in hormone research 31: 95-139

[205] Federici M, Porzio O, Zucaro L, et al. (1997) Increased abundance of insulin/IGF-I hybrid receptors in adipose tissue from NIDDM patients. Molecular and cellular endocrinology 135: 41-47

[206] Soos MA, Whittaker J, Lammers R, Ullrich A, Siddle K (1990) Receptors for insulin and insulin-like growth factor-I can form hybrid dimers. Characterisation of hybrid receptors in transfected cells. The Biochemical journal 270: 383-390

[207] Soos MA, Field CE, Siddle K (1993) Purified hybrid insulin/insulin-like growth factor-I receptors bind insulin-like growth factor-I, but not insulin, with high affinity. The Biochemical journal 290 (Pt 2): 419-426

[208] Pandini G, Frasca F, Mineo R, Sciacca L, Vigneri R, Belfiore A (2002) Insulin/insulinlike growth factor I hybrid receptors have different biological characteristics depending on the insulin receptor isoform involved. The Journal of biological chemistry 277: 39684-39695

[209] Sasaoka T, Ishiki M, Sawa T, et al. (1996) Comparison of the insulin and insulin-like growth factor 1 mitogenic intracellular signaling pathways. Endocrinology 137: 4427-4434

[210] Saetrum Opgaard O, Wang PH (2005) IGF-I is a matter of heart. Growth Horm IGF Res 15: 89-94

[211] Hsueh WA, Quinones MJ (2003) Role of endothelial dysfunction in insulin resistance. The American journal of cardiology 92: 10J-17J

[212] Dupont J, Dunn SE, Barrett JC, LeRoith D (2003) Microarray analysis and identification of novel molecules involved in insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor signaling and gene expression. Recent progress in hormone research 58: 325-342

[213] Asfari M, Janjič D, Meda P, Li G, Halban PA, Wollheim CB (1992) Establishment of 2mercaptoethanol-dependent differentiated insulin-secreting cell lines. Endocrinology 130: 167-178

[214] Hohmeier HE, Mulder H, Chen G, Henkel-Rieger R, Prentki M, Newgard CB (2000) Isolation of INS-1-derived cell lines with robust ATP-sensitive K+ channel-dependent and independent glucose-stimulated insulin secretion. Diabetes 49: 424-430

[215] Surwit RS, Kuhn CM, Cochrane C, McCubbin JA, Feinglos MN (1988) Diet-induced type II diabetes in C57BL/6J mice. Diabetes 37: 1163-1167

[216] Ahren B, Pacini G (2002) Insufficient islet compensation to insulin resistance vs. reduced glucose effectiveness in glucose-intolerant mice. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 283: E738-744

[217] Ahren B, Scheurink AJ (1998) Marked hyperleptinemia after high-fat diet associated with severe glucose intolerance in mice. European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies 139: 461-467

[218] Lee JY, Ristow M, Lin X, White MF, Magnuson MA, Hennighausen L (2006) RIP-Cre revisited, evidence for impairments of pancreatic beta-cell function. The Journal of biological chemistry 281: 2649-2653

[219] Gannon M, Shiota C, Postic C, Wright CV, Magnuson M (2000) Analysis of the Cremediated recombination driven by rat insulin promoter in embryonic and adult mouse pancreas. Genesis 26: 139-142

[220] Fire A, Xu S, Montgomery MK, Kostas SA, Driver SE, Mello CC (1998) Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature 391: 806-811

[221] Elbashir SM, Harborth J, Lendeckel W, Yalcin A, Weber K, Tuschl T (2001) Duplexes of 21-nucleotide RNAs mediate RNA interference in cultured mammalian cells. Nature 411: 494-498

[222] Caplen NJ, Parrish S, Imani F, Fire A, Morgan RA (2001) Specific inhibition of gene expression by small double-stranded RNAs in invertebrate and vertebrate systems. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 98: 9742-9747

[223] Tuschl T (2003) Functional genomics: RNA sets the standard. Nature 421: 220-221

[224] Matzke M, Aufsatz W, Kanno T, et al. (2004) Genetic analysis of RNA-mediated transcriptional gene silencing. Biochimica et biophysica acta 1677: 129-141

[225] (2003) Whither RNAi? Nature cell biology 5: 489-490

[226] Qiu S, Adema CM, Lane T (2005) A computational study of off-target effects of RNA interference. Nucleic acids research 33: 1834-1847

[227] Scacheri PC, Rozenblatt-Rosen O, Caplen NJ, et al. (2004) Short interfering RNAs can induce unexpected and divergent changes in the levels of untargeted proteins in mammalian cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 101: 1892-1897

[228] Grynkiewicz G, Poenie M, Tsien RY (1985) A new generation of Ca2+ indicators with greatly improved fluorescence properties. The Journal of biological chemistry 260: 3440-3450

[229] Neher E, Sakmann B, Steinbach JH (1978) The extracellular patch clamp: a method for resolving currents through individual open channels in biological membranes. Pflugers Arch 375: 219-228

[230] Sparks LM, Xie H, Koza RA, et al. (2005) A high-fat diet coordinately downregulates genes required for mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation in skeletal muscle. Diabetes 54: 1926-1933

[231] Chisalita SI, Arnqvist HJ (2004) Insulin-like growth factor I receptors are more abundant than insulin receptors in human micro- and macrovascular endothelial cells. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 286: E896-901

[232] Pereverzev A, Vajna R, Pfitzer G, Hescheler J, Klockner U, Schneider T (2002) Reduction of insulin secretion in the insulinoma cell line INS-1 by overexpression of a Ca(v)2.3 (alpha1E) calcium channel antisense cassette. European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies 146: 881-889 [233] Lu D, Mulder H, Zhao P, et al. (2002) 13C NMR isotopomer analysis reveals a connection between pyruvate cycling and glucose-stimulated insulin secretion (GSIS). Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 99: 2708-2713

[234] Yang S, Fransson U, Fagerhus L, et al. (2004) Enhanced cAMP protein kinase A signaling determines improved insulin secretion in a clonal insulin-producing beta-cell line (INS-1 832/13). Molecular endocrinology (Baltimore, Md 18: 2312-2320

[235] Rabaglia ME, Gray-Keller MP, Frey BL, Shortreed MR, Smith LM, Attie AD (2005) Alpha-Ketoisocaproate-induced hypersecretion of insulin by islets from diabetes-susceptible mice. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 289: E218-224

[236] Nolan CJ, Leahy JL, Delghingaro-Augusto V, et al. (2006) Beta cell compensation for insulin resistance in Zucker fatty rats: increased lipolysis and fatty acid signalling. Diabetologia 49: 2120-2130

[237] Anello M, Lupi R, Spampinato D, et al. (2005) Functional and morphological alterations of mitochondria in pancreatic beta cells from type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetologia 48: 282-289

[238] Pomplun D, Florian S, Schulz T, Pfeiffer AF, Ristow M (2007) Alterations of pancreatic beta-cell mass and islet number due to Ins2-controlled expression of Cre recombinase: RIP-Cre revisited; part 2. Hormone and metabolic research Hormon- und Stoffwechselforschung 39: 336-340

[239] Garay-Sevilla ME, Nava LE, Malacara JM, Wrobel K, Wrobel K, Perez U (2000) Advanced glycosylation end products (AGEs), insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) and IGFbinding protein-3 (IGFBP-3) in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetes/metabolism research and reviews 16: 106-113

[240] Janssen JA, Lamberts SW (2002) The role of IGF-I in the development of cardiovascular disease in type 2 diabetes mellitus: is prevention possible? European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies 146: 467-477